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FEDERAL RESERVE REPORT ON MONETARY
POLICY

TUESDAY, JULY 16, 1991

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON DOMESTIC MONETARY POLICY,

COMMITTEE ON BANKING, FINANCE AND URBAN AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10 a.m., in room
2128, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Stephen L. Neal [chair-
man of the subcommittee] presiding.

Present: Chairman Neal of North Carolina, Representatives Neal
of Massachusetts, Roth, and Duncan.

Also present: Representatives Kennedy, Hoagland, and Leach.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I would like to call this

meeting of the subcommittee to order at this time. Today, we are
delighted to welcome the Chairman of the Federal Reserve to
present the Fed's report to Congress on monetary policy. I would
like to begin by congratulating him on his nomination for new
terms as Governor and as Chairman. He has certainly earned the
respect and confidence of the public for his stewardship of mone-
tary policy.

He certainly deserves another 4 years at the head of the Federal
Reserve System. Mr. Chairman, congratulations.

Mr. GREENSPAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. And some condolences, too,

it is a tough job.
There is, in addition, a very specific reason he deserves another

term at the helm. The primary objective of his conduct of monetary
policy, as he had reaffirmed again and again before this subcom-
mittee, has been and must be the gradual but inexorable elimina-
tion of inflation.

In his first term, the Federal Open Market Committee launched
monetary policy on a path that should, overtime, reduce measured
inflation to insignificant levels. Despite some ups and downs, the
longer term growth rates of M2 have been dramatically reduced
over the past 4 years.

As Chairman Greenspan emphasized in previous testimony, that
decline in monetary growth has been no accident. It has been a
necessary condition for reducing, and eventually eliminating infla-
tion.

Though a necessary condition, I must note that it has not been,
as yet, a sufficient condition. Measured inflation has yet to register
any significant break from its 4 percent to 5 percent plateau. I will

(l)
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want to question the Chairman about the prospects for progress in
reducing inflation in the near term.

At present, I will only call attention to several factors which
have been impeding this effort. In the first instance, we must re-
member that monetary policy operates with lags, possibly very long
lags.

The major impact of reduced money growth over the past few
years may still lie ahead of us. Moreover, the fact that measured
inflation has not fallen over the past 4 years—it has, in fact, risen
slightly—does not prove that the Fed's strategy has lacked any bite
whatsoever.

One must recall that monetary growth had been very rapid in
the mid-1980's. The decompression that began about 1987 served, in
part, to offset the rapid expansion of previous years. Though I
cannot prove the point, I suspect that monetary policy, since about
the 1987-1988 period has had a very significant impact on infla-
tion. But that impact is not only observable, since it just stymied
an inflationary explosion that would have otherwise occurred.

The first 4 years of Chairman Greenspan's tenure served to
arrest an accumulating inflationary momentum. Actually reducing
measured inflation to trivial levels remains the objective of the
next 4 years.

I would like to conclude by calling attention to the major politi-
cal impediment that threatens to undermine that objective at every
turn. To put it bluntly, this administration consistently refuses to
support a monetary policy aimed at eliminating inflation.

Despite what it says, its actions speak loudly to the financial
markets. And those actions have been clear.

First, the President dawdled until the last possible moment in
reappointing Mr. Greenspan. That could only signal to the markets
an ongoing campaign to bulldoze the Fed into reinflating the econo-
my in time for the next election.

Second, the Secretary of the Treasury seems to spend most of his
time trying to browbeat all the major countries to reinflate, along
with us, if not ahead of us.

It is very maladroit and potentially ruinous financial diplomacy.
How do financial markets react to these episodes?

They read in them a persistent pattern of political pressure on
the Fed to cave in to inflation. The credibility of a long-term com-
mitment to eliminating inflation is undermined. The markets
simply do not believe, yet, that inflation can or will be eradicated.
Thus, inflationary expectations change very little, even in the
midst of a recession.

As a consequence, long-term interest rates remain high, even
when short rates fall considerably. The economy remains weaker,
inflation more stubbornly resistant than it should be, and primari-
ly because the administration simply refuses to accept the basic
point about the purpose of monetary policy.

Anti-inflation is the best policy for economic growth and prosper-
ity. Their estimates and actions, no matter what they say, even
though they say they are for lower interest rates, in fact, keep
them higher than they would otherwise be.

By spurning zero inflation, the administration turns its back on
the benefits that would surely follow. Long-term government inter-
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est rates would fall to the 30- or 40-percent range, mortgage rates
much lower than they are now, consumer and business rates about
half of what we pay today.

The budget deficit would drop, as the Treasury issued debt more
cheaply. Savings and investment would be stimulated. Savers
would no longer fear the corroding effect of inflation. Inflation
would no longer undermine the long-term planning needed for pro-
ductive investment.

Productivity would rise, driven by new savings and new invest-
ment. Unemployment would fall, on average, to the lowest levels
possible, since the economy would become more efficient, more pro-
ductive, and less prone to recession.

Since most recessions are by-products of the periodic need to
regain control over inflation, they would be minimized by a mone-
tary policy resolutely targeted on zero inflation.

Our major competitors have learned this lesson. Japan's prosper-
ity and competitiveness are, in large part, a consequence of its suc-
cess in stabilizing prices. The same for Germany and the same will
hold true for a new European currency, if it is managed by the
commitment to price stability that will likely be mandated for a
new European central bank.

If for no other reason, we must achieve zero inflation to remain
competitive in the world economy. Without it, we will face periodic
recessions, stagnating productivity, the constant erosion of competi-
tiveness—in short, economic decline.

There is a right policy for monetary policy. It is zero inflation.
Only by achieving and maintaining zero inflation can we achieve
all of the other economic goals which will keep America number
one.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Neal of North Carolina can be
found in the appendix.]

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Mr. Roth.
Mr. ROTH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Greenspan, I join the chairman in welcoming you to our sub-

committee here this morning because what you have to say means
a great deal, not only to us here in Congress, but it has tremendous
impact on our entire economy. With our global economy, the world
hangs on what you have to say.

Now, I have to respond somewhat to the chairman's comments
here because I am from the other side of the aisle. The Presidential
candidates may not be out campaigning, but I notice from my good
friend, the chairman, here, who is a very influential Member of
Congress, that the Democrats are not at a lack for a philosophy for
this coming Presidential campaign.

Let me say that the next 4 years with you at the helm of the
Federal Reserve are very welcome, I think, to all of us because we
have trust and confidence in you and because we do hold you in
high regard.

Mr. GREENSPAN. Thank you.
Mr. ROTH. I wonder, however, with no disrespect for you, in all

deference to you, whether the President wasn't sending a message
to you and your colleagues at the Fed by waiting until only recent-
ly to announce your reappointment, even though you were clearly
the best choice for the job.
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Maybe the delay, simply put, in the light of the current state of
our economy, is that the Fed shouldn't become too preoccupied
with further lowering inflation, particularly if it would be at the
expense of the entire economic recovery.

I think we have to be somewhat dubious about keeping inflation
down, if our economy suffers because, Mr. Brown, head of the
Democratic Party, said good news for the economy is not good news
for us, that is, the Democratic Party.

We should try to bring politics out of our financial policymaking.
It would be to the betterment of our entire economy and our coun-
try. I would assert that worrying about inflation at this point in
our country's economic recovery is like a good fussing over the des-
sert, while letting the main course burn.

The Wall Street Journal recently pointed out that the lower in-
flation is not an issue with the American people right now, as they
are perfectly happy seeing inflation chug along at its current 3, 4
percent pace.

However, seeing this country rebound from its current economic
situation is of vital concern to every American. When I go back
home and go around the country and talk to people, people never
say, hey, we have got to do something about inflation. But people
do say, we have got to do something about interest rates. We have
got to do something about more jobs. We have got to do something
about our economy.

Focusing on lower inflation helps keep interest rates high. It
means higher unemployment, and it retards our country's econom-
ic recovery. These are costs which are clearly too high for the bene-
fits we gain. Thus I am anxiously awaiting, Mr. Chairman, your
disclosure and discussion on the Fed's proposed money market tar-
gets, and I sincerely hope that the news is that the Fed is going to
put its worries about inflation on the back burner for now and let
the Nation get on with the recovery.

I also look forward to hearing Chairman Greenspan's thoughts
on other important issues that may affect our monetary policy,
such as the effects of the House's proposed banking reform bill, as
well as its effects and any of our other issues; for example, trust
and confidence because of the savings and loan banks; problems in
banking and all of our financial institutions; how can we rebuild
the public's trust and confidence in our lending institutions.

So I look forward, Mr. Chairman, to hearing your views on these
and other important issues, and, again, I welcome the news that
you will be with us for 4 more years, and again we have trust and
confidence in you. I know that trust and confidence will not be mis-
placed.

Mr. GREENSPAN. Thank you, Mr. Roth.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Mr. Neal.
Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. I don't have an opening statement,

but I want to congratulate you for the long-standing feeling you
have had on the Fed, one of the most complicated agencies, one
that the public has very little interest in, but the fact that you
have continued to schedule hearings of this sort to keep interest
high among subcommittee members, I think, is testimony to the
role you have served here as chairman of this subcommittee.
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I intend during the question and answer period to revisit the
issue again, Mr. Greenspan. I have already congratulated you last
week about reappointment, but I intend to revisit the issue of the
New England economy vigorously with you when you are able to
conclude your testimony.

I have to say once again that I have not witnessed any relief
across New England, and I intend to question you about it vigor-
ously at the conclusion of your remarks.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you, sir. Mr. Leach.
Mr. LEACH. Mr. Chairman, I am not a member of this subcom-

mittee, but I did want to come by just for 30 seconds to your sub-
committee.

Chairman NEAL. You are always welcome.
Mr. LEACH. Fine. The reappointment of Mr. Greenspan truly

symbolizes the vindication of integrity in that Mr. Greenspan was
reappointed even though some of his policies did not meet the ap-
proval of the administration during his tenure. I think it is very
significant that despite an independent and vigorous Fed, who has
policies we all disagree with, Mr. Greenspan was reappointed. I
want to congratulate Mr. Greenspan not only on being reappointed,
but also on the vigor of his integrity and not kowtowing on mone-
tary policy.

Thank you.
Mr. GREENSPAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Leach.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Mr. Chairman, again, wel-

come. We would like to hear from you if we can at this time.

STATEMENT OF ALAN GREENSPAN, CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF
GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

Mr. GREENSPAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I have a
rather extended prepared statement, and even though my oral re-
marks will be somewhat extended, they will be significantly short-
er than my written statement. I request, however, that the full
statement be included in the record.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Yes, without objection, it
will be done at this point in the record.

Mr. GREENSPAN. Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, I
am pleased to be here today, as always, to present the midyear
Monetary Policy Report to the Congress. My prepared remarks this
morning will take their cue from that report by focusing on cur-
rent economic and financial conditions, as well as on the outlook
for the economy and monetary policy over the coming IVz years.
These topics merit particularly close attention at the current time,
when the economy appears to be poised at a cyclical turning point,
moving from recession to expansion. In addition, I plan to devote
some time to discussing the importance of the changes that we
have been seeing in patterns of credit usage and in the flows of
money and credit through the financial system. There are signs of
what could be significant departures from the trends prevalent in
the 1980, with potential implications for the interpretation of fi-
nancial data and economic developments.

At the time of our last report in February, the economy had been
declining for several months. Today, however, there are compelling
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signs that the recession is behind us. Although the turning point
has not yet been given a precise date, a variety of cyclical indica-
tors bottomed out by early spring, and some have moved noticeably
higher in recent months. Such data strongly suggest that the econ-
omy is moving into the expansion phase of the cycle. Nevertheless,
convincing evidence of a dynamic expansion is still rather limited,
and we must remain alert to the chance that the recovery could be
muted or could even falter.

In recent months, there also have been promising signs of a slow-
ing in inflation. A bunching of price increases and excise tax hikes
at the beginning of the year boosted so-called core inflation meas-
ures for a time. But in their wake, an underlying softening trend
has become evident with consumer prices outside of the food and
energy sectors rising quite modestly. In an environment of slack
demand, businesses have worked especially hard to control costs by
keeping their operations as lean and productive as possible.

With the threat of an oil-related inflation surge largely behind
us, and output evidently declining, the Federal Reserve took a
series of easing steps in quick succession over the latter part of last
year and into the spring. These actions, aimed at ensuring a satis-
factory upturn in the economy, brought the Federal funds rate
more than 2 percentage points below its pre-recession level and 4
percentage points below its peak of about 2 years ago. Other short-
term interest rates dropped more or less commensurately. Despite
the progressive easing of monetary policy, the foreign exchange
value of the dollar is up substantially since the beginning of the
year, in part, owing to the brightening outlook in the United States
for economic recovery without added inflation. Anticipations of eco-
nomic expansion also were reflected in rising stock prices, and in
long-term interest rates, which have changed relatively little on
balance so far this year, even as short-term rates have declined.

With the cumulative drop in short-term interest rates making
monetary assets more attractive to the public, M2 growth picked
up noticeably in the first half of 1991. Its growth probably was re-
strained to a degree, however, by the firmness in returns on capital
market instruments. Money growth also continued to be held down
by the ongoing restructuring of credit flows away from depository
institutions. As the thrift industry has contracted and banks have
remained quite cautious about expanding their balance sheets,
there has been less need for depositories to issue liabilities which
constitute the vast bulk of the monetary aggregates. Currently, M2
and M3 are somewhat below the midpoints of their respective
target ranges.

In the last several months, monetary policy has adopted a pos-
ture of watchful waiting as economic indicators have pointed in-
creasingly toward recovery. With an eye to the usual lags in policy
effects, this stance has been viewed as prudent to guard against the
risk of adding excessive monetary stimulus to an economy that
might already be solidly into recovery. Monetary policy during the
first half of the year has had two jobs: first, to help bring the econ-
omy out of recession and, second, to avoid setting the stage for the
next recession, which would follow if we allowed inflationary im-
balances to develop in the economy.
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The progress against inflation that has been set in motion must
not be lost. Moreover, by consolidating and building upon the gains
against inflation, we come that much closer to our longer-term goal
of price stability. Inflation and uncertainty about inflation keep in-
terest rates higher than they need be, distort saving and invest-
ment, and impede the ability of our economy to operate at its peak
efficiency and to generate higher standards of living.

It is this strategy that has been guiding monetary policy recent-
ly, and the effects of the strategy are reflected in the economic pro-
jections of the Federal Open Market Committee members and
other Reserve Bank presidents. On the whole, their outlook is for
underlying inflation to continue to slacken as the economy first re-
covers and then expands at a moderate rate through the end of
next year. Their forecasts for real GNP growth over the 4 quarters
of 1991 center on 1 percent or a shade below, implying growth over
the remainder of this year that not only offsets the first quarter
decline in GNP, but also lifts output above its prerecession peak by
yearend.

Two fundamental questions must be posed with regard to this
outlook for the rest of the year. The first is an inquiry into the po-
tential sources of strength in the recovery—those forces that will
be at work to pull the economy out of the recession in a lasting
fashion. We see a number of factors as having set the stage for the
recovery: In particular, the reversal of the spike in world oil prices
and the favorable effects of that reversal on real incomes; the con-
clusion of the Gulf War and the consequent rebound in consumer
and business confidence; and, finally, the decline in short-term in-
terest rates following our policy easings and the narrowing of risk
premiums in financial markets. Against this backdrop, consumer
expenditure growth seems to have turned positive again, along
with real income; home building has bottomed out and is providing
some lift to overall growth; and orders for capital goods are point-
ing to a firming in demand that should be reflected in production
and shipments in coming months.

The strongest force behind output growth in the near term, how-
ever, probably will be the behavior of inventories. Business inven-
tories have been drawn down aggressively in recent quarters and
with inventories now quite lean, sales increasingly will have to be
satisfied out of new production. The inherent dynamics of an inven-
tory cycle, as the draw down ceases and eventually turns to re-
building, likely will engender the bulk of the initial set-up in
output. But there may be additional areas of demand that will
impel the recovery; it is quite common at this point in the cycle for
forecasts both to underestimate the strength of the recovery and to
miss the forces that end up driving the expansion.

In fact, recessions typically have been followed by periods of ap-
preciably stronger growth than that foreseen here. This raises the
second question about the near-term forecasts; that is, whether
they are optimistic enough. A number of considerations come to
mind on that side of the issue. First is the simple notion which is
lent some support by history, that relatively mild recessions beget
relatively mild recoveries. And this recession, assuming it came to
an end in the spring, seems to have been mild. Not only does it
appear to have been marked by a considerably smaller contraction
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in real GNP and industrial production than the average postwar
recession, it also was a bit shorter.

Arguing against a rapid rebound in the economy are several
other factors as well, including the lack of impetus from some sec-
tors that contributed in earlier cycles. First, it has not been unusu-
al to see some fiscal stimulus in the early stages of expansion in
the past; this time, however, the Congress and the administration
have worked long and hard to make sure that genuine progress
will be made in righting the structural imbalance in the budget,
putting Federal spending in real terms on a downward path. Nor is
fiscal stimulus likely to emerge from the State and local sector,
where deepening budget problems are constraining spending. A
portion of the financial distress of localities can be traced to the
softness in real estate markets feeding through to property tax re-
ceipts. The condition of the real estate market also is certain to re-
strain the pickup in construction that usually accompanies a recov-
ery, with overbuilding in commercial real estate likely to damp ac-
tivity in this area for some time to come. Finally, in the consumer
area, expenditures are unlikely to grow more rapidly than personal
income, as households avoid reducing their saving rate further
from its already low level.

The expansion is seen as becoming more securely established
next year, with real GNP growth strong enough to bring the unem-
ployment rate down a half a percentage point or more from its cur-
rent level. Should the recovery unfold about as we expect, price
pressures will remain muted and progress on inflation is likely.
The expectations of the FOMC members and other Reserve Bank
presidents for inflation this year, are centered in the neighborhood
of 3.5 percent, well down from the 6.25 percent rate of inflation ex-
perienced last year. Although the slowdown in this area is exagger-
ated by the retreat in oil prices, a clear deceleration should be evi-
dent even abstracting from energy prices. That deceleration in the
underlying trend is expected to continue next year, as well. Howev-
er, the unwinding of the oil shock this year matches the improve-
ment, so that the projection for the increase in overall consumer
prices is about the same for 1992 as for 1991.

The FOMC viewed the near-term outlook for output and prices
as generally favorable and consistent with growth in money and
debt within the ranges that had been specified earlier in the year.
Consequently, at its meeting earlier this month, the FOMC reaf-
firmed the 1991 ranges for money and debt growth. In addition, it
was felt that the money ranges retained enough scope for policy to
be responsive should the economy stray substantially from its ex-
pected path over the remainder of the year.

Unlike the monetary aggregates, our latest reading on debt of
the domestic nonfinancial sectors places it right at the bottom edge
of its 1991 range. Its growth has been unusually low, and its posi-
tion within the range is indicative both of the reduced demands for
credit associated with the weak economy and of the restraint, on
the part of borrowers and lenders, that has been evident in recent
quarters. In these circumstances the FOMC felt that lowering the
monitoring ranges would be inappropriate and might falsely sug-
gest a complacency on the part of the policy makers about weak-
ness in credit growth. Instead, maintaining the debt range un-
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changed underlines the implications that a further slowdown in
this aggregate would warrant close scrutiny.

On a provisional basis, the FOMC extended the 1991 ranges for
money and debt growth to 1992, with the understanding that there
will be opportunities to reevaluate the appropriateness of these
ranges before they come fully into play next year. The ranges were
viewed as consistent with additional progress against inflation and
with sustained economic expansion. Moreover, the path of no
change appeared most sensible to the subcommittee at the current
time of some uncertainty about the vigor and even the durability of
the economic recovery, as well as about developments affecting the
future of the thrift and banking industries.

This uncertainty about the credit intermediation process is one
of the factors that could probably make movements in M2 some-
what difficult to interpret in the short run, but I would emphasize
that we expect the aggregate to remain a stable guide for policy
over the longer run. The relationship between M2 and nominal
income has been one of the most enduring in our financial system.
Presumably, this reflects an underlying demand for liquidity on
the part of businesses and consumers that is associated with a
given level of spending and wealth. This demand is likely to per-
sist, though the financial structures that supply the liquidity may
change.

Recently, patterns of financial intermediation have been chang-
ing, and there are signs that patterns of credit usage in general
have been changing as well. It is difficult to know which of these
developments will show some permanence and which will prove
ephemeral. But some of the recent changes have been striking and
have affected a number of the financial variables that the Federal
Reserve routinely monitors in an effort to glean information about
the health of the economy, the soundness of the financial system,
and the appropriateness of current monetary policy. I would like to
address several aspects of these recent developments in the remain-
der of my remarks today, Mr. Chairman.

First, at the most aggregate level, the ratio of domestic nonfinan-
cial sector debt to nominal GNP, which soared in the 1980's, is be-
ginning to show signs of flattening out. With the Federal Govern-
ment's borrowing lifted by the effects of the recession and pay-
ments related to deposit insurance, these signs have been evident
so far only in other sectors. While the changes in behavior may, in
part, reflect cyclical factors at work, a longer-term trend also may
be emerging. This trend, if it fully develops, would represent a
return to the pattern evident in earlier postwar decades.

The deregulation, technological advances, and financial innova-
tions that came at an accelerated pace in the 1980's, lowered the
cost of borrowing for many and probably raised the equilibrium
ratio of debt to net worth for a wide range of economic entities. A
temporary surge in borrowing was implied in the course of this
transition from one equilibrium to another. A tapering off of that
surge would then be expected as the new equilibrium was ap-
proached, and this may be what we are currently witnessing. If
these sorts of adjustments were in train, the slow debt growth asso-
ciated with them should not be read as implying that credit was
insufficient to support satisfactory economic performance.
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On the supply side of the credit market, perhaps the major factor
at work in creating a break with the behavior of the 1980's has
been the adverse consequences of that behavior. It is clear that a
significant fraction of the credit extended during those years
should not have been extended. Now financial institutions, regula-
tors, and taxpayers are facing the wrenching unwinding of those
lending decisions. A key lesson to be learned is how important it is
to avoid these costly adjustments in the future and that this can
only be done by avoiding a return to such financial laxity. A more
prudent approach to capitalization and lending decisions is over-
whelmingly a healthy development that ultimately will result in
strengthened balance sheets for the Nation's financial institutions
and more assurance of stability of the financial system.

In certain areas, however, the credit retrenchment appears to
have gone beyond a point of sensible balance. In some cases, lender
attitudes and actions have been characterized by excessive caution.
As a result, there doubtless are creditworthy borrowers that are
unable to access credit on reasonable terms. Even in the obviously
troubled real estate area, new loans are arguably too scarce, in
some cases, intensifying the illiquidity of the market for existing
properties. To some extent, the scarcity of some types of loans may
reflect the efforts of individual financial institutions to reduce the
share of their assets in a particular category such as commercial
mortgages. While a single bank may be able to do this without too
much trouble, when the entire industry is trying to make the same
balance sheet adjustment, it simply cannot be done without mas-
sive, untoward effects. Instead, it may be in the banks' self-interest
to make the adjustment in an orderly manner over time. Regula-
tory efforts to address credit availability concerns continue.

Not only the behavior of the debt aggregate itself, but also the
avenues through which the debt flows represent something of a
break with the past. The recent decline in the importance of depos-
itory institutions as intermediaries, when measured by the credit
they book, is quite striking. While this predominantly reflects the
contraction of the thrift industry, banks, too, have contributed by
growing only slowly. Over time, other financial institutions have
provided more close substitutes for banking services, and the profit-
ability of the banking industry suffered over the last decade or so
from a decline in loan quality.

As banks make further strides in bolstering their capital posi-
tions, however, they will become better able to take advantage of
opportunities to add profitable loans to their balance sheets. While
the role of the banking industry has been changing, its importance
in the financial system and the economy remains assured.

In summary, Mr. Chairman, the financial system in this country
is changing, and it is changing rapidly. Technology, regulatory ini-
tiatives, and market innovations are changing many dimensions of
the financial system. The relationships between borrowers and
lenders, between risk and balance sheet-exposure, and between
credit and money are being altered in profound ways. In response,
we must understand the nature of these changes, their perma-
nence, their limitations, and their possible implications for the
economy and monetary policy. And we must assure that the stabili-
ty of the financial system is protected as changes occur, for a sound
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financial system is an essential ingredient of an effective monetary
policy and a vital economy.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Greenspan can be found in the

appendix.]
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you, sir, Chairman

Greenspan.
First, before we get into the main thrust of your testimony, just

a little housekeeping matter, if I may.
Last week, on Tuesday, July 9, the Wall Street Journal ran a

story which said that after considerable discussion your Open
Market Committee agreed to leave the committee growth target for
the monetary measure known as M2 at 2.5 percent to 6 percent for
next year, the same as this year's target range.

It is a long story, and it goes into some great detail about your
meeting, the results of which you report to the Congress and the
world at the semi-annual hearings.

Now, as I read this story, in light of today's testimony, the story
is essentially accurate, suggesting to me that somehow there is a
leak within the Fed there that is troubling. It is troubling because
if it is not important that this data be made public at the times
called for by law, then it should be made public the day you do it,
and if it is important.

It suggests a certain problem with competence, that somehow in-
formation is getting out that shouldn't. So could you talk about
this a little and tell us what happened.

Mr. GREENSPAN. I read that article, Mr. Chairman, and I must
tell you, I was most distressed. I, however, think I know how that
information got out, and unless I am mistaken, that opening, if I
may put it that way, is now currently closed.

Whether or not I am correct in my evaluation, only time will
tell. But I can certainly agree with the thrust of your remarks that
that is something which we should be chagrined at seeing occur.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Are you saying that you
have corrected it so we won't see it occur?

Mr. GREENSPAN. I think I understand how that information was
obtained, and I trust I have taken steps which will avoid that in
the future.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you. While we are
on the subject, how about commenting a little bit on this question.

Others from time-to-time have suggested that there is no reason
for waiting even a minute in terms of letting your decisions be
known. I personally think that the more sunshine we have in gov-
ernment activity the better; the more that we can do in the open
and full public view, the less suspicion there is of our institutions;
the more accountable they are to the public, the better the policy
that is likely to develop.

Is there some good reason for not making public the conclusions
of your deliberations coincidental with arriving at them? Is there
some reason for delay?

Mr. GREENSPAN. First of all, Mr. Chairman, let me say that I cer-
tainly agree with your view that for public institutions, short of the
issue of the efficiency of the operation which we are required to im-
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plement, full public disclosure should be forthcoming in all re-
spects.

The only reason that one can argue for the failure to do so is
that it impedes the purposes assigned by the Congress to the Feder-
al Reserve. The reason why we are quite cautious in releasing
market-sensitive information is that how the information is re-
leased, affects markets and affects the actual implementation of
policy itself.

As I think I have mentioned to this subcommittee on previous oc-
casions, we view our specific monetary actions in terms of either
those in which we wish to be very visible, in a sense make an an-
nouncement, and those in which we believe that a smooth continu-
um of policy without disruption to the market actually contributes
best to the overall policy thrust of the Federal Reserve.

To the extent that we would be required to make all actions im-
mediately available, which in a sense is an announcement, we lose
part of what I consider an important element in the structure of
policy capabilities. Even though in many instances the issue is
marginal, there are enough occasions, especially when markets are
particularly disrupted by events outside of monetary policy, or
caused by external events even outside the country, that it is im-
portant for us to be able to have as many tools as we can in an
endeavor to stabilize the system.

Finally, let me say, Mr. Chairman, that it is very difficult for us
to release the minutes of our meetings very quickly in that they
must be compiled and edited and checked so, there will always be a
delay in that respect, and I am not certain that we would ever be
able to be in a position, even were we desirous of doing so, of com-
municating completely all of the actions in a real time sense.

In summary, I would just say to you, Mr. Chairman, that while I
very much appreciate and fully subscribe to the notion of the ne-
cessity of a public institution such as ours being completely open,
there are times when so doing conflicts with what the Congress
itself encourages us to do in the most efficient manner.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I understand this. I am
wondering if it wouldn't be useful for you all to do a little brief on
this subject, using some examples from recent history, maybe the
aftermath of the 1987 crash, or some other time when you think it
has been useful to have available to you something other than
what you call the announcement effect.

Mr. GREENSPAN. I will be glad to do so, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I believe that would help

us in keeping available to you a tool that I agree is useful to you.
My time has expired.

Mr. Roth.
Mr. ROTH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Greenspan, I am going to follow up on the chairman's

line of questioning.
The Fed is shrouded in secrecy, and within the Fed's Open

Market Committee disagreement over policy has been a long tradi-
tion. But it seems recently there has been an unusual amount of
bickering, is there dissension among the committee members as to
how we should deal with inflation?
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Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, Mr. Roth, I don't agree with the premise
that there is an unusual amount of bickering. On the contrary, the
thinking which has impressed me more than most anything else
about my first term as Fed Chairman is the collegiality of the oper-
ation.

I do think there may be more open discussion than usual, but I
would argue strenuously that bickering is a most inappropriate
term to describe what is going on, and I would say that the overall
philosophy of the FOMC and the current nonmember presidents is
remarkable, I would say

Mr. ROTH. It could be, Mr. Chairman, that we just have people
with stronger opinions on the board now than we have had before,
more free-thinking people, and, of course, that would be healthy,
wouldn't it?

Mr, GREENSPAN. Well, I am not even sure that that is the case
because my impression of the past is that the Board has always
been peopled by fairly significant forward-thinking and strong per-
sonality members.

I think that is good, not bad, and frankly, the extent to which
these discussions induce people to change their minds is a sugges-
tion that substantive things are being discussed.

Mr. ROTH. Mr. Chairman, I wasn't going to go down this line of
questioning, but I just want to tell you what people in the Cloak-
room are saying, and then you can respond. I am going to ask you
in a letter to respond to some of these things.

In the cloakroom, I hear a lot of Congressmen saying they are
concerned about what the Fed is doing, although they do have con-
fidence in you. But they say what we should have the Comptroller
General look the Federal Open Market Committee, and all the Fed-
eral Reserve Banks and their branches so that there is a lot of
openness so that we don't have the shroud of secrecy. Do you think
such a thing would be a good idea? Is that a good concept?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Mr. Roth, as I have indicated to you previously,
I think it is not a good concept, will not achieve what it is endeav-
oring to do, and what I would like to do is to spell out for you in
detail in a written response precisely why.

Mr. ROTH. OK. I appreciate that. We were told yesterday that
the deficit is going to be increasing by some $60 billion. This, of
course, is something that I am very much concerned about, and I
know others are.

What is your advice to the Congress on the deficit?
Mr. GREENSPAN. First of all, the budget agreement which was

hammered together last October was an agreement which I suspect
very few people like in total. Nonetheless—and I might add I would
certainly subscribe to that view myself—but nonetheless, the basic
structure that was put in place is clearly one which will lead to a
very significant reduction in the deficit over time.

It is the apparent first successful structure of procedures which
will enable spending to be restrained in a manner which is consist-
ent with the long-term necessity of a balanced fiscal system.

Mr. ROTH. Mr. Greenspan, this is very important, however, be-
cause we were told that our deficit is going to be $280 billion. Now,
it is a $60 billion increase. That would be $340 billion. There is no
way we can live with a $340-billion deficit.
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Yes, you are right, there was a hard hammered out agreement
last fall, but golly, that is not going to get us to a balanced budget,
is it?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Remember that a very substantial part of the
deficit which is projected for next year of necessity, by its nature, is
temporary. That is, a goodly part is deposit insurance costs, the
thrift bailout, and specifically, there are some accelerations of de-
fense expenditures caused by the need to replenish some of the in-
ventory reductions during the Gulf War.

But most importantly, there has been a major change in the pre-
sumed relationship between the levels of income that are related to
the Gross National Product and the presumed tax receipts that are
coming off that income. I am not sure whether or not that revision
is right or wrong, but it is something which we will be looking at to
make sure that those estimates make sense.

But even under the extreme conditions of the most pessimistic
relationships, there is a very dramatic decline in the deficit over
time. But there is no question that I certainly agree with you, were
we to have to live with $350 billion deficits, the budget would be in
very serious shape. I don't anticipate that, and I believe that we
will be seeing marked progress on the deficit over time.

Mr. ROTH, My time has expired. I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for
answering my questions.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Mr, Neal.
Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-

man.
Mr. Greenspan, I don't profess to know more about monetary

policy than you do, and certainly it is not my intention to trespass
into your realm of competence, but I do know this. In New Eng-
land, there are more vacant storefronts, longer unemployment
lines, and more and more responsible businessmen and business-
women who cannot get routine credit.

Would you concede this morning that the Fed was slow in
coming to acknowledge the problems of the New England economy?

Mr. GREENSPAN. No, I don't think so, Mr. Neal, largely because
we were acutely aware of the extent of the problems emerging
there. My recollection is that concern about the nature of the New
England economy arose quite early in the game at the Federal Re-
serve.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. For months, including forums simi-
lar to this, I questioned you about the credit crunch. The initial re-
action from you and from the Fed was that there was not a credit
crunch in New England.

Mr. GREENSPAN. That is correct, and I am going to distinguish
between the early stages of moving from what was very evident
lending laxity to patterns which appeared to have more of the
characteristics of a credit crunch. This early stage was indeed,
something which was healthy, not something which was deleteri-
ous. And it is only as we began to perceive that the initial move
from laxity to balance began to continue in an adverse direction
toward excessive caution, and indeed actions which we perceived to
be unnecessary, that we began to define what was occurring as a
crunch.
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There has never been a problem in understanding what the proc-
esses were. We were fully cognizant of the pulling back in lending
standards, of pulling back in the general evaluation processes that
banks and supervisors tend to make, but that was something which
was essential, and in my judgment, healthy to the economy.

And as a consequence of that, I would not define that this econo-
my, or for that matter any aspect of it, began to move into a mean-
ingful credit crunch until it had moved over that line, and that, in
my judgment, was well into the process.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. I think the term you used in your
testimony was that we moved beyond a sensible balance.

Mr. GREENSPAN. That is correct.
Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. OK. Well, the truth of the matter

is, it hasn't gotten any better months after we acknowledged the
problem. We have heard a number of times witnesses before the
full Banking Committee and this panel indicate that they were
going to address the issue in New England, and there isn't any
plausible evidence at this time that that process has begun.

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, I wouldn't want to agree with that, Mr.
Neal. I think that we have been spending a good deal of time on
the issue of credit crunch, have been fully aware of what is going
on in New England, and the President of the Federal Reserve Bank
of Boston, Richard Syron, whom you know, has been in fairly con-
sistent contact with those of us at the Federal Reserve Board in
Washington, both at the Board and at the staff level.

And we have been, in conjunction with other regulators, endeav-
oring to find means to bring the credit crunch to a halt and to turn
it around. I grant you that it has not turned around, but I do think
there is increasing evidence that it is no longer getting worse, and
that is at least the first step.

You asked me would I prefer that it were much better. I certain-
ly would. Do we intend to pursue this issue until we can say that it
is better? The answer is yes.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. The point I would simply like to
make, and I would like to move on to another question, is that you
more or less declared this morning that there are a number of indi-
cators that would suggest that the recession is behind us. I just
want to tell you firmly and emphatically this morning that is not
the case in New England or I certainly haven't witnessed those in-
dicators that I think that the layman might come to acknowledge
or recognize as supporting the evidence that you have offered this
morning in your testimony.

Mr. GREENSPAN, I think it is definitely the case that New Eng-
land is dragging behind the rest of the economy, and the evidence
there of an upturn is far more muted that in other areas in the
country.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. Let me speak to the issue of the
national savings rate which you have eloquently addressed. Inci-
dentally, I have great confidence in your decisionmaking except in
this particular instance.

Let me speak to the issue of the national savings rate. There are
a number of proposals floating around Capitol Hill, one of which I
have sponsored, that would support the idea of returning the IRA.
If we are not going to move in the direction of returning the IRA
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or some sensible vector upping the national savings rate, what do
you suggest to us this morning?

We have run around this issue a number of times now, and yet
we don't seem to be any closer to taking the kind of vigorous action
here on Capitol Hill that would, in fact, offer some incentive to en-
courage people to save.

Mr. GREENSPAN. I testified before the Ways and Means Commit-
tee a number of weeks ago, Mr. Neal, and gave similar testimony
before Senate Finance. The general thrust of the way I came out,
confronted with the same dilemma that you are raising, was that
even though the evidence on the IRA is not by any means conclu-
sive as to whether it will improve the national saving rate, the
issue of national saving is so crucial to this economy that we prob-
ably ought to take risks in that direction and endeavor to try to
move toward a form of renewed, expanded IRA, fully aware that
we may end up with very little in the way of net additional saving.

But on the other hand, it might be a definite plus, so I think it is
worthwhile at least taking a shot at.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. Mr, Chairman, may I ask for 30
more seconds.

So you are willing to state again today that the number one eco-
nomic problem that faces America is the low national savings rate?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Yes, most definitely, but it is a long-term prob-
lem.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I would like to welcome-

there are several Members of the full Banking Committee here this
morning who are not members of the subcommittee, but we also
welcome other members of the committee to our subcommittee
hearings. We think it is valuable to hear their thoughts and points
of view, and it is a way of getting those out to the public.

Mr. Leach, I would like to call on you at this time.
Mr. LEACH. Thank you. I would defer to any member of the sub-

committee first.
Well, I just had one issue I wanted to raise with you, Mr. Chair-

man, and that is obviously the news of the day relates to the major
banking merger in New York. And from a congressional perspec-
tive, it seems impressive that a consolidation has occurred without
infusion of public monies.

Can you reveal to us the role of the Fed or the attitude of the
Fed or both in relationship to this merger?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, Mr. Leach, as you know or are aware, the
Federal Reserve Board will be required to review and express early
approval or denial of this merger. I think, under those conditions, I
am restrained at this stage from preliminarily discussing views
which will be part of an adjudication process at some later time.

Mr. LEACH. OK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Mr. Kennedy.
Mr. KENNEDY. First of all, Mr. Chairman, I am glad to see you

are here this morning and looking healthy. I just wish the commit-
tee was looking as healthy as you are, at least in my region of the
country, but I want to congratulate you on your reappointment and
also just hope that you are feeling as well as you look.

Mr. GREENSPAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Kennedy.
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Mr. KENNEDY. I am worried, as Rich Neal was speaking with
you, about the New England region, and the general state of the
economy. It seems to me that we are hearing talk this morning
about the fact that there has been some success in keeping the in-
flation rate under control, which I think that there is no question
you have been able to do a reasonable job on.

On the other hand, we have got unemployment rates that are
going into double digits in New England, and it is not just in New
England. There are other parts of the country that are stumbling
along at best. It just seems that if you look at what Mr. Roth was
talking about, you have got a deficit that was announced in the
paper this morning of being $348 billion. You have got a situation
where the credit in New England has been stifled.

It is very difficult for small businesses, medium-sized businesses
to gain access to the credit markets. You have got a general feel-
ing, I think, on everybody in the United States that at least I come
in contact with, with maybe the exception of Wall Street, which I
never quite understood why when everybody else thinks it has
gone down, these guys send the DOW over 3,000 points.

It just doesn't seem to make sense. Maybe you could explain that
to me as well. But what I am really driving at is the fact that I
think people get a sense in the pit of their gut that somehow the
United States is not really making the kinds of innovations, not
really being able to get itself prepared to deal with the 21st centu-
ry in a way that makes us truly competitive with our counterparts
abroad; that the savings rates of the Japanese are down, the invest-
ments by the Germans in terms of taking an aggressive stand and
going into the Soviet Union, addressing the concerns of Eastern
Europe and the like indicate kind of a vibrancy that has been lost
by the U.S. economy, and that we sort of consider all these minute
little measurements that you have to come up with in your day-to-
day work.

I don't mean to diminish the importance of them, but in terms of
whether or not the United States is going to be able to seriously
get out and compete with the rest of the world in the 21st century,
I have got some real concerns. I just wondered if you might address
generally where you see the U.S. economy going and how we are
going to get out of this sort of creeping along, 1 percent growth,
and maybe it goes up 1 percent this year and it goes back down
one-half percent next year.

But other than an overstimulation that we perhaps saw in the
1980's, how do we begin to get this country moving again?

Mr. GREENSPAN. You are raising the crucial question about long-
term economic policy which actually interrelates with the issue of
national saving which your colleague from New England raised
earlier.

The total labor force which is currently in place is determined
by—I should say the labor force which will be in place, say, 10
years from now—is pretty much determined at this stage in the
sense that the number of people who will be in that labor force are
already born, are already becoming educated, and we can forecast
with some degree of accuracy what the labor force will be.

That essentially leaves the growth in the GNP or the economy
overall as being determined by output per worker, and that funda-
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mentally, as best we can judge, relates to the level of investment,
or more specifically, investment per worker, which in turn gets to
the question of an adequate level of saving to engender that level
of investment.

The saving rate is unquestionably too low, and we are going to
need to raise it, but it is important for us to focus very clearly on
the issue of productivity, technology, and education, all the ele-
ments which are involved specifically with how to improve output
per worker, because we are not going to change in any measurable
form how many people are in the labor force or how many people
are working over the years ahead. We have got to get an upswing
in productivity, which I must say has improved some in the 1980's,
but we have got to enhance it even faster if we are going to get the
type of growth that you are suggesting, Mr. Kennedy.

Mr. KENNEDY. So, then, doesn't that, in fact, raise two questions:
First, that in the short-term—I would rather hear you talk about
the long-term, but in the short-term if you take the money that
would normally be invested in some sort of durable good or just the
measurements that you use to determine whether or not the econo-
my is being stimulated and is working, in fact, lowers the savings
rates because it takes money out of people's pockets to go out and
buy the washing machine. And what you really want is the banks
to have the money so that they can make the loans to the innova-
tive entrepreneur who can go out and come up with a break-
through on technology.

Aren't those two really at opposite ends of the equation?
Mr. GREENSPAN. It appears that way in the short run, but if you

think in terms of the way the economy evolves, what tends to
happen is both saving and investment rise proportionately or
equally, in effect, depending on how one defines it, and that in turn
raises the level of aggregated economic activity so that consump-
tion, whether it is for durable goods or others, rises as well. One is
not confronted with the issue of trading off one good versus an-
other.

What we are trying to achieve is a much larger overall level of
economic activity which would enable increased production for all
types of goods.

Mr. KENNEDY. My time is up, but I just wanted to conclude, Mr.
Chairman, briefly by maybe asking the Chairman if it would be
possible to get even in writing or if you ever have a few minutes to
get some ideas about what you can actually do to stimulate the sav-
ings rate in this country, particularly as it seems that we are going
to be spending so much of our dollars just paying off the deficit,
anyway, even the interest on the debt, so I think that there has
been sort of a dearth of ideas.

We have got these gimmicks of the IRA's and things like that,
but as to whether or not you actually get people to put money into
the long-term investments that are necessary to get these increases
in productivity, I just haven't really seen, and I think that you can
ask the American people to make those investments. But I don't
see any political leadership.

I certainly don't see the President or anybody else talking in
those terms to the American people about what the real challenge,
the fundamental economic challenge to the economy are. You hear
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a lot of platitudes about no new taxes and this and that and the
other thing, but what you don't hear is what the people of the
country are supposed to actually do in order to achieve the goals
that you are talking about.

Anyway, thank you, Mr. Chairman, for having us here this
morning.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you. Well, I think
you are on to the key point, myself. For a prosperous future, we
need a greater level of savings. It is the single, I think, most impor-
tant issue for our economy.

Is that true, would you say?
Mr. GREENSPAN. It is the toughest public policy problem we have

in the economic area.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Now, there is something

that the Fed can do and I think is trying to do that will help, and
that is, you know, just sort of looking at human nature, if you
think that the value of savings is going to be maintained, I think it
is human nature to save.

I remember years ago, if you will forgive me this little sideline
here, being amazed, I was in China back in the late 1970's. It was
before the so-called normalization, and the Chinese were very
proud of the fact that they maintained the value of their currency.

It was one of the very keys, they saw, to the success of their
economy such as it was. It was not a very successful economy, I
will have to say, but it was one thing that they did, and that is
that the Chinese, as little as they made—they made almost nothing
in terms of a living wage, and yet they felt confident in saving
their money because they knew that the government would not
allow the money to lose its value. And so actually, you know, the
working people in China making—we couldn't possibly live on
what they were making, but they put some of it aside.

They would save it for their old age because they would not
allow inflation in their country. Again, back to my pet project,
there is just—the one thing that the Fed can do on the fiscal side,
the thing that we could do that would be the most help would be to
reduce the deficit.

That is the major dissavings in the economy. It is the major
enemy of savings. On the monetary side, the most valuable thing
the Fed can do is to, in a reasonable way, over some period of time
so that we don't disrupt the economy, bring inflation to zero and
keep it there.

That will do more toward inspiring savings than any other single
action the Fed can take, I believe. Is that true, would you say?

Mr. GREENSPAN. I have said that many times, Mr. Chairman, so I
could say nothing more than

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA, We talk about the gim-
micks, Mr. Kennedy is right, you are right. There is no real evi-
dence that IRA's and so on really increase the overall level of sav-
ings. You want to take a shot with them, fine.

I am not against it. I think I am a cosponsor of a bill that would
do that. It might help a little bit, but does it really get to the core
problem?
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No, it doesn't. You want to get to the core problem, and we have
to really go at the basics, balance the Federal budget or get closer
to it, and on the monetary side, reduce and keep inflation low.

Mr. Duncan.
Mr. DUNCAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You have touched a

little bit on what I want to ask about. Mr. Greenspan, Mr. Kenne-
dy mentioned that there is a report today that says the administra-
tion has had to revise upward its estimate of the deficit for next
year to $348 billion, and some people think it may even go higher
than that.

To some of us who really don't understand these things, we
aren't economists, loss of a billion dollars a day at the Federal level
and of national debt of well over $4 trillion are scary things, and
they cause great concern, to put it lightly.

Does all of this Federal debt and do all of these huge deficits, do
they have—do they cause you great concern, and what effect are
they having on our economic posture in this country today, and
can we have any sustained long-term recovery unless we get the
Federal Government under control from a fiscal standpoint?

Mr. GREENSPAN. I am very concerned about the level of the defi-
cit and have been for quite a while. I have argued before the Con-
gress on innumerable occasions the importance of getting the drain
on private saving down, which is, of course, what the Federal defi-
cit does.

It drains away some of the private saving which would otherwise
go into productive investment. I was quite chagrined at the state of
affairs that was emerging with our inability to come to grips with
this in years past, but even though, as I have indicated earlier, I,
like everyone else, had troubles with the particular elements with
the budget agreement that took place last October, I suspect that
we may finally be seeing a mechanism which will put this huge,
burgeoning problem under control.

I did not like nor did I feel comfortable with the revisions that I
saw, as you saw, yesterday. However, knowing how the process is
functioning, I still have confidence that we will see a significant re-
duction in that process and very specifically on the size of the bor-
rowing which the Federal Government has taken which, needless
to say, has created fairly significant pressure in the financial mar-
kets.

I don't think there is any question that at least some of the prob-
lems that we are having with long-term interest rates higher than
we would like is that the supply coming on the markets is continu-
ously very large.

I am hopeful that we will soon see that change, and certainly if
the Congress adheres to the various procedures that are implicit in
that budget agreement and enacted into law, I am hopeful that we
will see a significant reversal in this process.

Mr. DUNCAN. So you think we are seeing some light at the end of
the tunnel, so to speak?

Mr. GREENSPAN. I should hope so.
Mr. DUNCAN. Let me go in another direction. You say in your

testimony that the credit retrenchment appears to have gone
beyond the point of sensible balance, and we have heard other tes-
timony in this subcommittee about how more and more lending is
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being done by nonbank lenders who are not subject to all of the
rules, regulations, and red tape that the banks are put under, and
you say that regulatory efforts to address this credit crunch and
these credit concerns continue.

How do we walk that thin line or what do we do to walk the line
between the public's demand for tight regulations on the banks to
get the crooks, so to speak, and yet allow some flexibility or leeway
for the bankers.

We had a banker from Ohio who testified one day in front of the
Financial Institutions Subcommittee, and he said, you know, every
loan, even the best loan, has some risk to it. He said the bank regu-
lators won't let us take into consideration things like future earn-
ings prospects and character and good will and things that we used
to be able to take into consideration.

They want to know only about cash-flow. How do we tighten up
on one hand and loosen up on the other?

Mr, GREENSPAN. Congressman, you are raising the basic dilemma
of bank regulation. The best way to do it is to recognize that there
is a tendency both on the part of the lending officers of the com-
mercial banks and the examiners who come into those banks to be
unnecessarily lax in periods when the economy is surging forward,
when appraisals for various different types of properties are going
straight up, and where loans that are being made look inordinately
safe. You get an attitude during that period which turns very dra-
matically when the economy changes, and we get what we are
seeing today, mainly, in many respects almost the mirror image in
reverse of the attitudes of all the participants of what was occur-
ring at the top of the cycle.

I don't know whether we are going to be able to succeed, but I
should certainly hope that a number of regulators are beginning to
try to find ways in which we can take that cycle and smooth it
down so that we are neither overly lax in periods of expansion nor
unduly constrictive during periods of decline.

My impression is that were we able to do that, we would find
that this continuous dilemma of whether you are being too tight or
too lenient would disappear, but you have stated the dilemma rela-
tively clear, and that is to a large extent the way we look at it, as
well.

Mr. DUNCAN. Thank you.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Mr. Hoagland.
Mr. HOAGLAND. Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman, for allowing us

nonmembers of the subcommittee to participate in this hearing.
Chairman Greenspan, our Banking Committee here in the House

completed its work last June, and as you know, we reported out a
comprehensive bill changing Federal banking statutes and regula-
tions, and immediately the bill ran into some entrepreneurial dif-
ferences in the House, which will no doubt continue.

I wanted to ask you, in light of your report, when the bill must
pass in terms of granting the borrowing authority to the BIF that
the bill contains?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, that issue has been examined in some
detail by Chairman Seidman, Treasury Secretary Brady, and
others with respect to when BIF really needs replenishment, and it
has been the conclusion that there is ample time at this stage to
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bring the bill, the broad bill which this subcommittee overall ap-
proved, to the floor in time to get those provisions passed and to
get proper BIF recapitalization.

It would be really most unfortunate if this process were stretched
out in a manner which required the House to break apart the BIF
recapitalization from the rest of the bill and deal with them sepa-
rately because I do think that it is an integrated process, and a
very sensible bill overall, which this subcommittee voted out, and I
should certainly hope that it will make significant headway rather
quickly on the floor.

Mr. HOAGLAND. Is it your opinion that it needs to pass this ses-
sion of Congress?

In other words, it needs to pass the House in 1991 and should not
be held over until January?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Mr. Hoagland, I am certainly of the opinion it
should not be held over. I think that reform is long overdue, and I
would say the sooner the better. And so I should certainly hope
that the House of Representatives would see fit to complete this
legislation as quickly as feasible.

Mr. HOAGLAND. Let me ask you about two specific policy deci-
sions made in the bill that, as I understand it, are coming under
assault over in the Energy and Commerce Committee, and ask
your opinion of those. The first is the commercial ownership of
banks. The second are the provisions as written in our bill that
amends Glass-Steagall. I wonder if you might indicate to us wheth-
er you support or oppose the position that this subcommittee took
on those two issues.

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, as I testified before this subcommittee in
full session, the Federal Reserve supports the principle of joining
Commerce and Banking, although we thought that owing to the
complexity of the problems associated with it, that it probably
should be an issue that is delayed.

With respect to repeal of Glass-Steagall, we are fully in support
of its repeal and subscribe to all aspects of the administration's rec-
ommendations, which as I understand it, were embodied in the
committee print and in the committee vote that will eventually
send this bill to the floor.

Mr. HOAGLAND. The bill is very complex, other than the commer-
cial ownership issue which you have just addressed, do you have
any reservations about any other aspects of the legislation?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Mr. Hoagland, the one area that we at the Fed-
eral Reserve feel somewhat uncomfortable with is the extent of the
firewalls that are implicit in the bill which is part of the increase
in powers.

In our judgment, the firewall recommendations in the adminis-
tration's bill are sounder than those which are in the committee
print. And that having reviewed this issue in some detail, looking
at the pros and cons, while we subscribe several years ago to a
higher level, or I should say, a thicker level of firewalls than we
would today, we have subsequently reviewed what evidence we
have with respect to that and have concluded that we could very
well get along, perhaps, beneficially get along with somewhat thin-
ner walls than those walls which are currently implicit in the bill
today.
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Mr. HOAGLAND. And you are talking in the securities area?
Mr. GREENSPAN. Yes, very specifically in the securities area.
Mr. HOAGLAND. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Chairman Neal.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thanks, Mr. Hoagland.
Mr, Chairman, you said in your testimony that you thought the

recession was—that we pretty well bottomed out and heading out
of this, maybe slowly. Some commentators predicting what I think
has been called by some a "double dip/' suggesting that we might
be coming out of the recession, but then we might—that might be
followed later this year, or early next year some time, with another
little dip. Do you see any evidence, anything to suggest to you that
that might be the case?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Mr. Chairman, we have great difficulty in fore-
casting one turn at any time. To try to forecast too far in advance,
I think, is straining the capabilities of forecasting techniques.

I must say to you, I don't see the elements of a double dip. I rec-
ognize the possibility, but then there are all sorts of possibilities
that could emerge. With the various elements that are evolving, it
might well turn out that way, and we might see evidence at a later
time that that is occurring. But I must say to you at this particular
point, I find no credible evidence that would suggest that is the
most likely outcome.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. During your testimony you
placed considerable emphasis on M2. What range for M2 will be
needed to achieve and maintain zero inflation, and when do you
think that we could expect to see such an M2 growth rate?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, first of all, going back to our earlier dis-
cussion on this question, on what we really mean by noninflation-
ary environment, it is an environment in which what price changes
do occur, do not have any significant effect on business decisions
or, in your terms, on saving or investment, or in any of the other
areas of concern.

It is apparent from looking at the details of our actual published
price indexes that we do not fully capture the improvement in
quality that goes on year-by-year, and a truly zero price change
probably is consistent with some modest positive inflation rate as
measured by the Consumer Price Index.

I suppose, incidentally, that one of the reasons why we were
misled about the state of economic well-being behind the Iron Cur-
tain at the height of the cold war, is we did not fully understand
that there was no quality change in most of the goods that were
produced in a central planned economy and that when we were
measuring real GNP in the West, we were measuring it in terms of
applying price increases which probably overestimated the degree
of the real price increase, and as a result had a lower relative
GNP; that was apparently not occurring behind the Iron Curtain.

In other words, that Trabant, the cars that the East Germans
produced, was probably the same car in the 1950's as it was before
they shut the lines down, and the price may or may not have
changed, but the quality certainly changed insignificantly.

Even though we endeavor to try to adjust for price in our cars,
and that is part of BLS's procedure in estimating the price index in
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the CPI, we don't really fully do that, and the cars that we have
today are significantly better than they were 20 or 30 years ago.

Even after making these various different adjustments and
trying to capture the change in quality, we don't fully capture it,
which is another way of saying that when we look at a noninfla-
tionary, or in your terms, a zero inflation economy, I think it is
probably closer to 1 to 1 Vz percent, or one-half to 1 l/s percent infla-
tion rate, which is consistent with that noninflationary goal, so
that if you then apply that inflation rate to the expectation of real
economic growth, that specifies over the long run where the cen-
tral tendency for M2 should be to be a noninflationary economy.

I would think that that would suggest that somewhere down the
line we probably would want to take another notch down in our
targets, but I don't think that we need to have a firm view of doing
that at any specific period of time.

I am more inclined myself to watch the inflation rate, the meas-
ured-inflation rate come down in line with the monetary patterns
that are already in place before we seek to make what you would
term, I guess, the ultimate adjustment, which brings us to a nonin-
flationary environment.

I don't think we are very far from that, and we have the capabil-
ity and the necessity of viewing the sustainability of economic
growth concurrently with achieving that ultimate goal.

At this stage we are well on the path of actually achieving the
type of goals which we have set out to achieve, the solid economic
recovery, with the unemployment rate moving down to its lowest
sustainable long-term rate, with growth at or close to its maximum
long-term sustainable pace, with inflation wholly under control.

I wish also to subscribe to the point you made in your opening
remarks that the experience of Germany and Japan in recent years
is suggestive that low inflation did really contribute to growth, and
it should be a lesson that we must focus upon.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Yes, I think that is a mis-
understanding that has been costly to the economy, that somehow
low inflation or price stability, zero inflation is inconsistent with
growth, and it is simply wrong. It is the way to maximize sustain-
able growth.

Mr. GREENSPAN. I certainly agree with that, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I appreciate your com-

ments.
Certainly, I take that as certainly good news that we are in the

range, that we are close to seeing that accomplishment.
By the way, for whatever it is worth, I want to say I couldn't

agree with you more about the definition. When I say zero infla-
tion, I am talking about exactly the same thing you are when you
have used the term, which I am sure is more precise, the economic
professional's term of price stability.

It just seems to me that zero inflation is more readily understood
and is found more acceptable, but they mean the same thing.

Mr. GREENSPAN. The reason I raise the issue is that it becomes a
relevant issue when you are beginning to talk specific numbers
about target ranges because of what it is we are endeavoring to
measure; in other words, you better be certain that the true meas-
ure that we are dealing with reflects the way of the world.
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Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I guess it is a fairly techni-
cal point, though. If prices are stable, they are not rising.

Mr, GREENSPAN. Yes.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. The idea of rising prices

and stable prices are incompatible.
Mr. GREENSPAN. What I am saying is the inflation rate, if the

actual measured inflation rate is growing at a very small number,
for all practical purposes, it is probably a reflection of the fact that
were we able to truly capture the quality changes, it would be zero.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I understand, and I agree. I
see the point. I take the point.

I must say I don't fully understand how you expect to achieve
that, though, with M2 growth somewhere in the ranges that you
are talking about now, I think we are—what was it, 2l/2, SVa to 6,
something like that? What are the ranges that we have now?

Mr. GREENSPAN. We are now 2l/2 to 6 Vs.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Two and a half to six and a

half.
It seemed to me that an M2 growth rate of 6Vfe percent would be

totally incompatible with price stability.
Mr. GREENSPAN. Over the long run, that is correct.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. So there is going to have to

be some adjustment downward in M2 growth.
Mr. GREENSPAN. As I indicated in my earlier remarks, at some

point, I don't think it is important necessarily to say when, but
there is probably a final downward notch, a small one, to create
target ranges which are consistent with what you say is price sta-
bility.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Well, my time has expired.
I want to return to this in just a minute if I can, but I have to

abide by the rules here.
Mr. Roth.
Mr. ROTH. Thank you.
Mr. Chairman, I read all these things about Chairman Green-

span, he is the second most influential man in the country and all
these things.

I am curious, 25 years from now when young people in the col-
leges open their textbooks, when the Wall Street Journal looks
back on the Greenspan legacy, what is the legacy going to be; or
what do you want it to be?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, I should certainly hope that it will say
that we succeeded in achieving the types of goals which I have
spelled out many times before this subcommittee, which are essen-
tially to achieve maximum, long-term economic growth in the con-
text of a noninflationary environment, which we perceive as a nec-
essary condition to achieving that long-term economic growth.

Mr. ROTH. Of course, that long-term economic growth, as you
have mentioned here, primarily or one of the main reasons that we
have long-term growth is our savings rate, right?

The savings rate, one of the key provisions, pillars of that is
going to be the savings rate?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Yes. I am not saying that, obviously, monetary
policy can achieve all of those elements, but what we can do is put
in place a policy in which whatever monetary policy can do to
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achieve that, we have done, but you are clearly quite correct, there
are other elements in economic policy, certainly budget policy, reg-
ulatory policy, among other things, which will be factors clearly re-
lated to whether we can achieve what maximum growth is possible
in this country.

Mr. ROTH. Well, in this question of legacies, I am not asking this
question lightly, because it tells you what a man is focused on, if
you ask him what is your goal, you can see pretty well where he is
going to be coming from. You have listed a number of items, of
course, that you are working toward.

Now, if you had to prioritize them in these Greenspan legacies,
what is the most important, is it going to be to keep inflation
under 4 percent, is it going to be to keep lower interest rates?
What was the top priority?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Mr. Roth, I don't view it as priorities, because I
think there is, essentially, a single standard out there which is a
balance of policy in which we achieve all of these simultaneously.
If we fail to do that, I would say we have come up short.

Mr. ROTH. OK. Thank you very much.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Mr. Neal.
Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-

man.
Mr. Greenspan, are you in favor of a gradual recovery? I mean,

you did declare the recession to be over.
Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, I am not in a position to declare anything

in that respect.
Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. Well, Mr. Roth said you were the

second most powerful person in America, so we would subscribe to
your thought processes on it.

Mr. GREENSPAN. He may perceive that, but I don't.
Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. At least you came very close to de-

claring it over this morning. Did the Fed favor, or do you favor a
gradual recovery?

There has been ample publicity generated suggesting that be-
cause of the condition of American banks today

Mr. GREENSPAN. I don't think we look at it that way. I think that
we would like to see the recovery fairly robust.

Obviously, the more the better in the context of not running off
the tracks. I think there is ample room for a fairly significant re-
covery without that happening.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. A follow-up question to that, is you
touched upon it in your testimony this morning, how do you relate
the problems of local governments and State governments across
the country to the overall economic problems that we have, I guess,
as it relates to consumer confidence as well?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, I think that it is a relatively severe prob-
lem.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. We keep saying things that makes
people dash to the door. I suppose it comes from you, being the
second most powerful person in the government, not from my line
of questioning.

Mr. GREENSPAN. You leave me speechless. The State and local
problem is a very severe one. It doesn't require much to take a look
at the individual accounts of the various States and a number of
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municipalities to know there are some real difficulties and hard-
ships there.

I do think, however, that as the economy starts to turn up, re-
ceipts will move since, obviously, there is a very close relationship
between the receipts, nonproperty receipts, and a number of these
State and local units.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. You mean the growth taxes?
Mr. GREENSPAN. Yes; in other words, taxes. If we leave the prop-

erty taxes aside, which are another problem, there is a very sub-
stantial part of the tax receipts of State and local governments
which are highly sensitive to the economy, and I think that that is
going to make a major change. Nonetheless, I do think that there
probably is going to have to be, and, indeed, there is, some fairly
significant belt tightening that is in the process of occurring, and
as we see it, there is a substantial fiscal drag on the economy that
is occurring from this issue of State and local governments pulling
in.

Since a substantial amount of the revenues which accrue to State
and local governments come from property and since property
values have, obviously, been in some difficulty, a goodly part of the
recovery in State and local governments is going to rest upon the
stabilization and recovery of the real estate industry.

Mr. NEAL OF MASSACHUSETTS. Thank you.
Mr. Chairman, I found this very helpful this morning, very help-

ful.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you. Glad you are

here.
Thanks for coming.
Mr. Duncan.
Mr. DUNCAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Greenspan, one last question.
The President is presently at a summit meeting designed, at

least in part, or as one of its goals it is intended to encourage
Russia and, perhaps, other countries to put more free enterprise
into their systems and have less government control of economy,
and yet I recall reading last summer where the chairman emeritus
or the head of Sony made some comments about our own economy
that angered some Americans, but one of his main points was he
said that the major problem with the American economy today was
that American business was overregulated or subject to too much
regulation.

We have talked in recent years about deregulation of certain in-
dustries, and yet to most of the lawyers in those industries they
laugh about that because they know that the airlines and certain
other industries that supposedly have been deregulated, are subject
to more laws, rules, and regulations today than probably ever
before. Do you feel, sir, that our economy is overregulated, and do
you think that our economy would grow stronger if we could work
some more free enterprise into our own system or is that not a
problem in your mind?

Mr. GREENSPAN. No, I do think in the very broadest sense that
there is more regulation in our system than is desirable or neces-
sary. Obviously, in certain specific areas, specifically, regrettably,
where I am actually a regulator, it has become clear that certain
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increases in regulations, such as the various initiatives on interna-
tional banking that we brought to this subcommittee a short while
ago, are required. But having said that, I certainly was fully sup-
portive and continue to be supportive of the general thrust toward
increasing deregulation because I think it is very obvious that it is
helpful to economic growth and long-term gains in standards of
living.

Mr. DUNCAN. Thank you.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you, sir.
Mr. Chairman, back to this question that we were discussing a

moment ago.
Wouldn't part of our success on achieving price stability, zero in-

flation be dependent on the credibility of that effort, people believ-
ing that, in fact, we are serious, that we are going to achieve it and
we are going to maintain it?

It seems to me that a lack of credibility is the explanation for the
wide spread between short and long rates that is just not believed.
I am not sure of that, but since we have not maintained zero infla-
tion as a matter of policy, a matter of practice over many years, I
think it is going to take some effort to convince investors, the
public, that we are serious.

So maybe I am wrong about that, but I would love for you to
comment on that. And if that is the case, wouldn't it be useful to
ratchet down these target ranges in a visible sense.

I am just wondering about the benefit of mystery here, what ben-
efit do we enjoy from not being clear about this?

I guess the only thing I can think of that might explain their re-
luctance would be changes in velocity, that if there were changes
from time to time, that that might then run up the growth and
then that might reduce credibility. But anyway, would you com-
ment on this?

Mr. GREENSPAN. First of all, credibility is a very difficult thing to
measure. I mean, clearly, there is no analytical technique that we
have which says this is increasing or decreasing, we really don't
know. We can make judgments, we can make guesses, we can get
market opinions.

However, while I don't dismiss the importance of credibility, far
more important is not what you say but what you do.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Well, then in that light,
comment on the target,

Mr. GREENSPAN. I basically will. Were we not in a position at
this stage where we are dealing with a still fragile, although sig-
nificantly less fragile financial structure than we had 6 months or
9 months ago, or if we were beyond the credit crunch and the fi-
nancial structure was back in balance in all respects, I think one
could make a stronger argument for moving targets down at this
particular stage.

Were we in a position where inflation was rampant, and we had
very high targets and we had to move them down pretty quickly
because you can't create a gradualist view of getting inflation out
of your system when you are dealing with double-digit inflation
and instability; if you say you are going to take it out of the system
in 10 years, it means you are not going to take it out of the system
ever. But we are now at a point where we are close enough where
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we have the luxury, if I may put it that way, to decide how we
make these adjustments. And I think that we do and should take
into consideration the fact that we are still in a fragile system and
that we believe that the actual measured rate of inflation will con-
tinue to come down in the context of the targets we are discussing
this morning.

They will not come down, as best we can judge, to, as you put it,
zero or the zero equivalent, and I don't think that we need to do
that right away, but I do think ultimately it would be certainly
helpful for all of the reasons which you suggest. But I see no need
at this point, there is no urgency to initiate that, and I should
think that so long as we maintain an overall policy which remains
consistent with economic growth and the context of declining infla-
tion, we can adjust sometime in the future as we see fit to get, as
you would put it, the ultimate target range from which one would
assume a noninflationary policy would continue to come forth.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Well, ultimately isn't that
going to be in the range of 4 percent, something like that? I mean,
if we assume growth to be 2, 2Vfe percent, if zero, in fact, 1 or IVfe,
or something like that, it seems to me that that suggests that 4
percent M2 growth is about what it is going to take to make

Mr. GREENSPAN. I don't want to give you a specific number, but,
obviously, it is somewhat not terribly far from that. If you say 1
percent growth, or something of that nature, that is not very far
from where we are at the particular time. And remember, Mr.
Chairman, as I said in the prepared remarks, we continuously
review these targets every 6 months, and the purpose of it basically
is to make judgments as to whether or not they should or should
not be changed.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Well, anyway, I commend
you for it. I think you are on the right track. I think that because I
think that the only way we can accomplish our other economic ob-
jectives of lower interest rate, maximum growth, maximum em-
ployment, maximum productivity, maximum savings, maximum
competitiveness, and so on, is, in fact, to achieve zero inflation.

So I certainly commend you for your efforts. I think we are on
the right path. It is hard, frankly, to argue about the timing of it.

We are probably making all the progress we can, given every-
thing else that is going on in the economy. It would be disturbing if
we were moving in any other direction, frankly.

I just have one other question, and then I will yield one more
time.

Earlier, last year, the Fed and the Treasury were intervening
heavily in foreign exchange markets, buying foreign currencies to
try to manipulate the value of the dollar. As a result of that your
holdings in foreign currency increased substantially.

Now the dollar is going up again in value on foreign exchange
markets, and that would suggest that the Fed and Treasury have
suffered losses in their currency holdings as a result of that. That
is true, I assume it must be true, doesn't that suggest that the ear-
lier intervention was a mistake?

Mr. GREENSPAN. First of all, I think you have to look at the other
side of the issue as far as the books are concerned. The early stages
of that intervention led to very substantial potential gains which
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have now been offset to a large extent, but not fully by losses. Al-
though this has not been our purpose, my recollection is it is that
the total net is plus rather than minus so that there has not been a
loss here, as I recall the data.

Nonetheless, I don't think we should be viewing this type of
intervention as endeavoring to make profits for the monetary au-
thorities. It is done for purposes of stabilizing the currency which
has broader macroeconomic advantages.

Clearly a stable dollar will reduce risk premiums and make eco-
nomic performance both here and abroad to the extent that others
do it, superior to what it would otherwise be. So what we are
trying to do is to create an economic value, the order of magnitude
of which is very difficult to measure, and while it may be that in
the process there are some foreign exchange losses, the cost prob-
ably is very small relative to the economic advantages that accrue
to the Nation.

But having said that, my recollection of the accounts, and this
will be defined in considerably more detail in the report that we
make in early September, is that on balance we have come out OK
with respect to the gains and losses on exchange trade.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I know you are not in the
business of speculating on foreign exchange, but it is hard for me
to see also the gains from that intervention.

Mr. GREENSPAN. You are raising the question that obviously we
discuss at great length ourselves within the Fed, at the Treasury,
and specifically in the various fora in which central bankers tend
to meet, and the general conclusion basically that seems to be
fairly prevalent is that intervention cannot significantly alter the
major trends in currencies, but it has some capability of success in
keeping instabilities down, disruptions at a minimum, and creating
a more balanced market which has advantages for trade and cap-
ital movements.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA Thank you.
Mr. Roth.
Mr. ROTH. Thank you. I just have one short question, but before I

do that, I was going to say I was hoping, Mr. Greenspan, that you
would tell the Congress that we have got to do something about
these deficits more than just last fall's agreement.

I don't like to disagree with you, but I must disagree. I don't
think that last fall's agreement, budget agreement is going to bring
these deficits under control, and I think we have got to do much
more, but having said that, there is a very historic meeting taking
place in London, as you know, today.

I don't think we realize how historic this meeting is until we
read history books 25, 30 years from now. That is Gorbachev
coming to the Western leaders in London today. What should the
President do when Gorbachev asks for aid? Should we give U.S.
aid?

What should the Western World do? Should they give aid to Gor-
bachev? What is your analysis?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, Mr. Roth, I think, as many of the mem-
bers of the G-7 have indicated in recent weeks, that the most im-
portant thing that the Soviet Union could do is to set in place a
structure of reforms, specifically in the area of setting up a free
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market infrastructure, a body of laws, a culture which essentially
would enable the centrally planned economy to wither away and a
market economy to emerge.

As best I can judge, listening to the remarks of Mr. Gorbachev,
he understands that, and what he is essentially endeavoring to do
is to communicate to the G-7 that he understands. And the conver-
sations, hopefully, will be about the general recognition that the so-
lution to the Soviets' economic difficulties is to move as quickly as
is feasible to a market structure and away from what has been an
extraordinarily deleterious, uneconomic, centrally planned system,

Mr. ROTH. But that is not really answering my question. What
should the President do? Should he give him aid? Should the West
give him aid?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Mr. Roth, I have communicated my views to the
President on that issue, and I should like to leave it there, if I may.

Mr. ROTH. Well, I see that again, we go back to this shroud of
secrecy around the Fed. I sure would like to know what you told
the President.

Mr. GREENSPAN. That has to do with the shroud of secrecy which
I think is most appropriate when one communicates views to the
President. That is, I think, desirable. It is a long tradition in this
country which I subscribe to that if the President wishes to stipu-
late to what he heard, that is his judgment, but I don't like writing
open letters to the President of the United States.

Mr. ROTH. OK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Mr. Duncan.
Mr. DUNCAN. I have no other questions.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you. On that score,

the President, I read a quote somewhere about his willingness to
help the Soviets develop a fully convertible currency. What would
that mean?

Mr. GREENSPAN. What would it mean?
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Yes, sir.
Mr. GREENSPAN. You have to define convertibility with respect to

the ruble in two senses. First, they have to achieve what econo-
mists call internal convertibility, meaning that in a sense the cur-
rency has value and is legal tender for the purchase of goods and
services within that economy, even were it closed. It is fairly appar-
ent that with the extraordinary queues that still characterize the
Soviet system, they do not yet have what we would term full inter-
nal convertibility.

Once that is achieved, then the question is attaining convertibil-
ity relative to currencies outside of the Soviet Union. I think that
is basically what he is referring to. The analogy, I suspect, that is
involved here refers to what was done for Poland when they de-
valued and went to convertibility. There was a large fund that was
contributed to by a number of countries in hard currencies to sup-
port the Polish currency against the Western currencies, which has
to a substantial extent succeeded.

But in order to make that succeed in the Soviet Union, in my
judgment, it will have to be a major reduction, hopefully, and in
fact probably necessarily an elimination of their huge budget defi-
cit which currently gets funding mainly, if not wholly, by the print-
ing of money. And unless and until they can shut off the spigot
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which is creating excess money, which obviously means that the
ruble is declining in the black market and in fact in the Financial
markets, until that is done, and the monetary overhang that is the
excess amount of currency which is creating these queues in the
Soviet Union, until that is done, it will be very difficult to get a
stabilized currency for the ruble in the international markets.

So that they have got a lot of very important major macroeco-
nomic adjustments to make, not to mention the extraordinary,
huge number of microeconomic adjustments to move from the cen-
trally planned rigid structure which they have to a market system.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Supporting—somehow sup-
porting their currency which is inflated internally would just
amount to a subsidy through another door.

Mr. GREENSPAN. I don't think anybody would recommend that
international convertibility for currency is feasible in the context
of very large currency creation of the type that is currently going
on.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. They are a long way from
any kind of international convertibility.

Mr. GREENSPAN. I would think that is the case.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. Why was it necessary to

support—you mentioned the Polish situation. Why was it necessary
to support that? Why couldn't the value be established in a free
market?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, because they were concerned, and I think
rightfully, that unless they stabilized their currency, that is the
Poles, that they would be visited by massive inflation potential if
the currency began to weaken dramatically because import prices
would then rise substantially, which would work its way through
the price structure in Poland, and unquestionably disrupt the en-
deavors that they were currently involved with.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. But wouldn't that just
signal that they have priced it improperly to begin with?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Well, the answer is, yes, it would, but the point
being that there is a vicious circle which would begin to emerge. If
your currency begins to collapse, it creates a significant amount of
internal inflation, which in turn weakens the currency still fur-
ther.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I see.
Mr. GREENSPAN. So that the advantage of a stabilization proce-

dure with external assistance is to try to break the circle.
Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. So it is only necessary

during a transition period, during a relatively brief transition
period?

Mr. GREENSPAN. Yes. Ultimately you would want a country to
have adequate reserves to maintain its position after a while, and
you would certainly want a situation in which you could stabilize
the currency so that the markets would basically then perceive
that it would continue to stay stable, and you would soon begin to
get individuals willing to invest in longer term claims against that
currency.

The reason we have 30-year bonds, for example, in this country
and elsewhere is that the holders believe that even though there
may be some inflation over the next 30 years, that the major part
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of the value of that currency will be maintained, and people are
willing to make long-term investments, so that what you are sub-
stantially endeavoring to do is to create a sense of security about
the value of the currency over the longer term, which tends to
create a virtuous cycle, if I may put it that way.

Chairman NEAL OF NORTH CAROLINA. I don't mean to—this is not
the subject of our hearing. I am just curious, though. It does seem
to me that a real benefit to the Soviets—to our central bank, you
and your folks could be a big help to the Soviets in terms of setting
up a system to establish some credibility in their currency and a
healthy economy.

Do they call on you?
Mr. GREENSPAN. Oh, yes, we have spoken to them on many occa-

sions over the last 2 or 3 years.
Chairman NEAL OP NORTH CAROLINA. Well, that is great. Are

there other questions?
Mr. ROTH. I don't have any other questions. I was just wonder-

ing, however, when you mentioned to the President, gave him your
views on what was going to be happening today, did he wink at you
or did he nod or smile? What kind of body language did he have?

Mr. GREENSPAN. You have put me in an impossible position, Mr.
Roth. I don't, frankly, remember, but if I did, if I believe what I
said before, which I do, I would not want to comment. The one
thing I will say about the President of the United States is he is
very knowledgeable about these issues, and I must tell you that a
lot of the times you think you are giving him new information, and
he has heard it 10 times before. And he often knows a good deal
more about certain issues than I do, so I don't want to suggest that
the way the President gets his ideas is that somebody sits there
and tells him and he absorbs it.

That is not my impression. I think he is somebody who has been
around the horn many times.

Mr. ROTH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman NEAL OP NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you, sir.
Well, Mr. Chairman, thank you again for being with us today. It

was a very useful hearing.
Mr. GREENSPAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[Whereupon, at 12:15 p.m., the hearing was adjourned, subject to

the call of the Chair.]
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OPENING STATEMENT

The Honorable Stephen L. Neal, Chairman
Subcommittee on Domestic Monetary Policy

July 16,1991

Today we are delighted to welcome the Chairman of the Federal Reserve to present
the Fed's Report to Congress on Monetary Policy. 1 would like to begin by
congratulating him on his nomination for new terms as Governor and as Chairman.
He has richly earned the respect and confidence of the public for his stewardship of
monetary policy. He certainly deserves another four years at the head of the Federal
Reserve System.

There is, in addition, a very specific reason he deserves another term at the helm.
The primary objective of his conduct of monetary policy, as he has reaffirmed again
and again, before this Committee, must be the gradual but inexorable elimination of
inflation. In his first term the Federal Open Market Committee launched monetary
policy on a path that should, over time, reduce measured inflation to insignificant
levels. Despite some ups arid downs, the longer-term growth rates of M2 have been
dramatically reduced over the past four years. As Chairman Greenspan emphasized
in previous testimony, that decline in monetary growth has been no accident. It has
been a necessary condition for reducing, and eventually eliminating, inflation.

Though a necessary condition, 1 musr note that it has not been, as yet, a sufficient
condition. Measured inflation has yet to register any significant break from its 4-5%
plateau. I will want to question the Chairman about the prospects for progress in
reducing inflation in the near term. At present I will only call attention to several
factors which have been impeding this effort.

In the first instance, we must remember that monetary policy operates wilh lags,
possibly very long lags. The major impact of reduced money growth over the past
few years may still lie ahead of us. Moreover, the fact that measured inflation has
not fallen over the past four years - it has, in fact, risen slightly - docs not prove
that the Fed's strategy has lacked any bite whatsoever. One must recall that
monetary growth had been very rapid in the mid-80's. The decompression that
began about 1987 served, in part, to offset the rapid expansion of previous years.
Though I cannot prove the point, 1 suspect that monetary policy since about 1987-88
has had a very significant impact on inflation. But that impact is not observable,
since it just stymied an inflationary explosion that would have otherwise occurred.
The first four years of Chairman Greenspan's tenure served to arrest an accumulating
inflationary momentum. Actually reducing measured inflation to trivial levels
remains the objective of the next four years.

1 will conclude by calling attention to the major political impediment that threatens to
undermine that objective at every turn. To put it bluntly, this Administration
consistently refuses to support a monetary policy aimed at eliminating inflation.
Despite what it says, its actions speak loudly to the financial markets. And those
actions have been very clear. First, the President dawdled until the last possible
moment in reappoinring Mr. Greenspan. That could only signal to the markets an
ongoing campaign to bulldoze the Fed into re-inflating the economy in time for the
next election.
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Secondly, the Secretary of the Treasury seems to spend most of his time trying to
browbeat all the major countries to re-inflate right along with us, if nor ahead of us.
ft is positively embarrassing to witness such maladroit, and potentially ruinous,
financial diplomacy.

How do financial markets react ro these episodes? They read in them a persistent
pattern of political pressure on the Fed to cave in to inflation. The credibility of a
long-term commitment to eliminating inflation is undermined. The markets simply
do not believe, yet, that inflation can or will be eradicated. Thus, inflationary
expectations change very little, even in the midst of a recession. As a consequence,
long-term interest rates remain high, even when short rates fall considerably. The
economy remains weaker, inflation more stubbornly resistant than they should be.
And primarily because the Administration simply refuses to accept the basic point
about [he purpose of monetary policy: anti-inflation is the best policy for economic
growth and prosperity.

By spuming zero inflation the Administration turns its back on the benefits that
would surely follow: long-term government interest rates would fall to the 3-4%
range, with mortgage rates not much higher. The budget deficit would drop, as the
Treasury issued debt more cheaply. Savings and investment would be stimulated.
Savers would no longer fear the corroding effect of inflation. Inflation would no
longer undermine the long-term planning needed for productive investment.
Productivity would rise, driven by new savings and new investment. Unemployment
would fall, on average, to the Jowest levels possible, as the economy became more
efficient, more productive, and less prone to recession. Since most recessions are
by-products of the periodic need to regain control over inflation, they would be
minimized by a policy resolutely targeted on zero inflation.

Our major competitors have learned this lesson. Japan's competitiveness is, in part, a
consequence of its success in stabilizing prices. The same for Germany. And the
same will be true of a new European currency, if it is managed to achieve the price
stability that will likely be mandated for a new European central bank. We would
ihen need our own zero inflation just to remain competitive in the world economy.
Otherwise, we would face periodic recessions, stagnating productivity, the constant
trosion of competitiveness - in short, unabated economic decline.

Debate on this issue tends to emphasize the short-term costs of attaining zero
inflaiion. It fails to recognize the long-term costs of pot eliminating inflation. Those
cobts are severe, because they burden our economy year after year, with no relief in
sight. Bui the benefits of zero inflation, once achieved, are also exponential: they
grow and compound year after year, paving the way for the strongest possible growth
our economy can achieve.

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



38

For release on delivery
10:DO a.m., E.D.T.
July 16, 1991

Testimony by

Alan Greenspan

Chairman, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

before the

Subcommittee on Domestic Monetary Policy

of the

Committee on Banking, Finance and Urban Affairs

U.S. House of Representatives

July 16, 1991

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



39

Mr. Chairman arid members of the Committee, I am pleased to be

here today to present the midyear Monetary Policy Report to the

Congress. My prepared remarks this morning will take their cue from

that Report by focusing on current economic and financial conditions, as

well as on the outlook for the economy and monetary policy over the

coming year and a half. These topics merit particularly close attention

at the current time, when the economy appears to be poised at a cyclical

turning point—moving from recession to expansion. In addition, I plan

to devote some time to discussing the importance of the changes that we

have been seeing in patterns of credit usage and in the flows of money

and credit through the financial system. There are signs of what

could be significant departures from the trends prevalent in the 1960s,

with potential implications for the interpretation of financial data and

economic developments.

Economic and Financial Developments in the First Half of 1991

At the time of our last Report in February, the economy had

been declining for several months. The considerable uncertainty and

higher oil prices that followed the invasion of Kuwait had depressed

confidence and real incomes, discouraging spending by consumers and

businesses and pulling down output and employment. However, even by

February, the first seeds of an economic recovery appeared to have been

sown: The initial coalition successes in the Gulf Har, the reversal of

much of the runup in oil prices, and the significant easing of monetary

policy all pointed in the direction of a resumption of growth.

Today, there are compelling signs that the recession is behind

us. Although the turning point has not yet been given a precise date, a
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variety of cyclical indicators bottomed out by early spring, and gome

have moved noticeably higher in recent months. Such data strongly

suggest that the economy is moving into the expansion phase of the

cycle. Nevertheless, convincing evidence of a dynamic expansion is

still rattier limited, and we must remain alert to the chance that the

recovery could be muted or could even falter.

In recent months, there also have been promising signs of a

slowing in inflation. The price figures themselves have bounced around

from month to month, partly in response to the gyrations in oil prices

and the partial embedding of those swings in the underlying cost

structure of the economy. A bunching of price increases and excise tax

hikes at the beginning of the year also boosted "core" inflation

measures for » time. But in their wake, an underlying softening trend

hag become evident, with consumer prices outside of the food and energy

sectors rising quite modestly- In an environment of slack demand,

businesses have worked especially hard to control coats by keeping their

operations as lean and productive as possible.

With the threat of an oil-related inflation surge largely

behind us and output evidently declining, the Federal Reserve took a

series of easing steps in quick succession over the latter part of last

year and into the spring. These actions, aimed at ensuring a

satisfactory upturn in the economy, brought the federal funds rate more

than 2 percentage points below its pre-recession level and 4 percentage

points below its peak of about two years ago. Other short-term interest

rates dropped more or less commensurately. Despite the progressive

easing of monetary policy, the foreign exchange value of the dollar is
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up substantially since the beginning of the year, in part owing to the

brightening outlook in the United States for economic recovery without

added inflation. Anticipations of economic expansion also were

reflected in rising stock prices and in long-term interest rates, which

have changed relatively little on balance so far this year even as

short-term rates have declined.

With the cumulative drop in short-term interest rates making

monetary assets more attractive to the public, M2 growth picked up

noticeably in the first half of 1991. Its growth probably was

restrained to a degree, however, by the firmness in returns on capital

market instruments. And, as had been anticipated at the beginning of

the year, growth of M2 remained below what would have been predicted

solely on the basis of historical relationships with interest rates and

income. Honey growth also continued to be held down by the ongoing

restructuring of credit flows away from depository institutions. As the

thrift industry has contracted and banks have remained quite cautious

about expanding their balance sheets, there has been less need for

depositories to issue liabilities—which constitute the vast bulk of the

monetary aggregates. Currently, M2 and M3 are somewhat below the

midpoints of their respective target ranges.

In the last several months, monetary policy has adopted a

posture of watchful waiting as economic indicators have pointed

increasingly toward recovery. With an eye to the usual lags in policy

effects, this stance has been viewed as prudent to guard against the

risk of adding excessive monetary stimulus to an economy that might

already be solidly into recovery. Monetary policy during the first half
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of the year has had two jobs: first, to help bring the economy out of

recession and, second, to avoid setting the stage for the next

recession, which would follow if we allowed inflationary imbalances to

develop in the economy.

The progress against inflation that has been set in motion must

not be lost. Moreover, by consolidating and building upon the gains

against inflation, we come that much closer to our longer-run goal of

price stability. Inflation and uncertainty about inflation keep

interest rates higher than they need be, distort saving and investment,

and impede the ability of our economy to operate at its peak efficiency

and to generate higher standards of living.

_0utlogk

It is this strategy that has been guiding monetary policy

recently, and the effects of the strategy ace reflected in the economic

projections of the Federal Open Market Committee members and other

Reserve Bank presidents. On the whole, their outlook is for underlying

inflation to continue to slacken as the economy first recovers and then

expands at a moderate rate through the end of next year.

For this year, while there remain — without question. — frailties

in the economy, economic activity appears on balance to be picking up in

a fairly broad-based manner. The expectation that the turnaround in

output is occurring, and that it will persist, is evident in the

economic projections of the FOMC members and other Reserve Bank

presidents. Their forecasts for real GSE growth over the four quarters

of 1991 center on 1 percent or a shade below, implying growth over the
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remainder of this year that not only offsets the first-quarter decline

in GNP, but also lifts output above its pre-recession peak by year-end.

Two fundamental questions may be posed with regard to this

outlook for the rest of the year. The first is an inquiry into the

potential sources of strength in the recovery—those forces that will be

at work to pull the economy out of recession in a lasting fashion. We

see a number of factors as having set the stage for the recovery: in

particular, the reversal of the spike in world oil prices and the

favorable effects of that reversal on real incomes,- the conclusion of

the Gulf War and the consequent rebound in consumer and business

confidence; and, finally, the decline in short-term interest rates

following our policy easings and the narrowing of risk premiums in

financial markets. Against this backdrop, consumer expenditure growth

seems to have turned positive again, along with real income;

homebuilding has bottomed out and is providing some lift to overall

growth; and orders for capital goods are pointing to a firming in demand

that should be reflected in production and shipments in coming months.

The strongest force behind output growth in the near term,

though, probably will be the behavior of inventories. Business

inventories have been drawn down aggressively in recent quarters, and,

with inventories now quite lean, sales increasingly will have to be

satisfied out of new production. The inherent dynamics of an inventory

cycle, as the drawdown ceases and eventually turns to rebuilding, likely

will engender the bulk of the initial step-up in output. But there may

be additional areas of demand that will impel the recovery; it is quite

common at this point in the cycle for forecasts both to underestimate
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the strength of the recovery and to wiss the forces that end up driving

the expansion.

In fact, recessions typically have been followed by periods of

appreciably stronger growth than that foreseen here. This raises the

second question about the near-term forecasts, that is, whether they are

optimistic enough. A number of considerations come to mind on that side

of the issue. First, and in some sense most appealing, is the simple

notion, which is lent gome support by history, that relatively mild

recessions beget relatively mild recoveries. And this recession,

assuming it came to an end in the spring, seems to have been mild. Not

only does it appear to have been marked by a considerably smaller

contraction in real GNP and industrial production than the average

postwar recession, it also was a bit shorter. In at least one respect,

however, this recession was close to average, and that was in job

losses, ag firms cut payrolls fairly aggressively. Nevertheless, the

unemployment cate did not rise as much or as high as was typical in the

past.

Arguing against a rapid rebound in the economy are several

other factors as well, including the lack of impetus from some sectors

that contributed in earlier cycles. First, it has not been unusual to

see some fiscal stimulus in the early stages of expansion in the past;

this time, however, the Congress and the Administration have worked long

and hard to make sure that genuine progress will be made in righting the

structural imbalance in the budget, putting federal spending in real

terms on a downward path. Nor is fiscal stimulus likely to emerge from

the state and local sector, where deepening budget problems are
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constraining spending. A portion of the financial distress of

localities can be traced to the softness in real estate markets feeding

through to property tax receipts. The condition of the real estate

market also is certain to restrain the pickup in construction chat

usually accompanies a recovery, with overbuilding in commercial real

estate likely to damp activity in this area for some time to come.

Finally, in the consumer area, expenditures are unlikely to grow more

rapidly than personal income, as households avoid reducing their saving

rate further from its already low level.

The expansion is seen as becoming more securely established

next year, with real GHP growth strong enough to bring the unemployment

rate down 1/2 percentage point or more from its current level. Should

the recovery unfold about as we expect, price pressures will remain

muted and progresa on inflation is likely. The expectations of FOMC

members and other Reserve Bank presidents for inflation this year are

centered in the neighborhood of 3-1/2 percent, well down from the 6-1/4

percent rate of inflation experienced last year. Although the slowdown

this year is exaggerated by the retreat in oil prices, a clear

deceleration should be evident even abstracting from energy prices.

That deceleration in the underlying trend is expected to continue next

year, as well. However, the unwinding of the oil shock this year masks

the improvement, so that the projection for the increase in overall

consumer prices is about the same for 1992 as for 1991,

Ranges for Money and_Debt Growth for 1991 and 1992

The FOMC viewed the near-term outlook for output and prices as

generally favorable and consistent with growth of money and debt within
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the ranges that had been specified earlier in the year. Consequently,

at its meeting earlier this month, the FOMC reaffirmed the 1991 ranges

for money and debt growth. In addition, it was felt that the money

ranges retained enough scope for policy to be responsive, should the

economy stray substantially from its expected path over the remainder of

the year. With M2 and M3 now well within their ranges, there remains

ample room for money growth to change in the event policy needs either

to ease in support of a faltering recovery or to tighten in reaction to

an unexpected resurgence of inflation pressures.

Unlike the monetary aggregates, our latest reading on debt of

the domestic nonfinancial sectors places it right at the bottom edge of

its 1991 range. Its growth has been unusually low, and its position

within the range is indicative both of the reduced demands for credit

associated with the weak, economy and of the restraint/ on the part of

borrowers and lenders, that has been evident in recent quarters. In

these circumstances, the FOMC felt that lowering the monitoring range

would be inappropriate and might falsely suggest a complacency on the

part of policymakers about weakness in credit growth. Instead,

maintaining the debt range unchanged underlines the implication that a

further slowdown in this aggregate would warrant close scrutiny.

On a provisional basis, the FOMC extended the 1991 ranges for

money and debt growth to 1952, with the understanding that there will be

opportunities to reevaluate the appropriateness of these ranges before

they come fully into play next year. The ranges were viewed as

consistent with additional progress against inflation and with sustained

economic expansion. Moreover, the path of no change appeared most
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sensible to the Committee at the current time of some uncertainty about

the vigor and even the durability of the economic recovery, as well as

about developments affecting the future of the thrift and banking

industries.

This uncertainty about the credit intermediation process i3

one of the factors that could possibly make movements in M2 somewhat

difficult to interpret in the short run, but I would emphasize that we

expect the aggregate to remain a stable guide for policy over the longer

term. The relationship between M2 and nominal income has been one of

the more enduring in our financial system. Since the founding of the

Federal Reserve, nominal GNP and M2 have grown, on average, at almost

precisely the same rate. Presumably, this parity reflects an underlying

demand for liquidity on the part of businesses and consumers that is

associated with a given level of spending and wealth. This demand is

likely to persist, though the financial structures that supply the

liquidity may change.

Changing Patterns of Financial Intermediation and Debt Accumulation

Recently, patterns of financial intermediation have been

changing, and there are signs that patterns of credit usage in general

have been changing as well. It is difficult to know which of these

developments will show some permanence and which will prove ephemeral.

But some of the recent changes have been striking and have affected a

number of the financial variables that the Federal Reserve routinely

monitors in an effort to glean information about the health of the

economy, the soundness of the financial system, and the appropriateness

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



48

-10-

of current monetary policy. I would like to address several aspects of

these recent developments in the remainder of my remarks today.

First, at the most aggregate level, the ratio of domestic

norifinancial sector debt to nominal GNP, which soared in the 1980s, is

beginning to show signs of flattening out- With the federal

government's borrowing lifted by the effects of the recession and

payments related to deposit insurance, these signs have been evident so

far only in the other sectors. While the changes in behavior may, in

part, reflect cyclical factors at work, a longer-term trend also may be

emerging. And this trend, if it develops fully, would represent a

return to the pattern evident in earlier postwar decades. In that case,

it would be the 1980s, with their burgeoning federal deficits and

massive corporate restructurings, that would appear the aberration. The

deregulation, technological advances, and financial innovations that

came at an accelerated pace in the 1960s lowered the cost of borrowing

for many and probably raised the equilibrium ratio of debt to net worth

for a wide range of economic entities. A temporary surge in borrowing

was implied in the course of this transition from one equilibrium to

another.

A tapering-off of that surge would then be expected as the new

equilibrium was approached, and this may be what we currently are

witnessing. The new equilibrium debt-to-income ratio may even be below

the current level, implying the possibility of sluggish debt growth for

some time. If these sorts of adjustments were in train, the slow debt

growth associated with them should not be cead as implying that credit

was insufficient to support satisfactory economic performance.
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ft number of considerations point in the direction of

restructuring of balance sheets. The forces that appear to be

restraining the demand for credit can be generally categorized as less

"grossing up" of balance sheets and less substitution of debt for

equity. During the 1980s, there was a great deal of this "grossing up"

of balance sheets, as credit financed more purchases both of physical

assets and of financial assets. As far as physical assets are

concerned, the 1980s saw some strong spending on consumer durables and

nonresidential structures; spending on physical assets, such as these,

appears more often to be financed with debt than is spending on moat

other types of goods and services. Now, with stocks of those assets

already built up and with tax law changes that have made it less

attractive in many cases to borrow to finance their purchase, credit

demands are likely to remain relatively damped.

The high interest rates of the late 1970s and early 1980s

spurred increased financial innovation and extensive deregulation,

helping to bring businesses and consumers increasingly into more complex

financial dealings. The state and local sector built up a large stock

of financial assets, and the household sector acquired assets from the

wider array of instruments available. Moreover, household borrowing

behavior was shaped importantly by the rasing capital gains available on

residential real estate over this period. As house prices escalated,

mortgage debt on existing homes increased, both as capital gains were

realized in home sales and as unrealized gains were tapped through the

use of second mortgages and, more recently, home equity lines. In this

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



50

-12-

process, home owners were able to redirect a portion of these capital

gains toward other assets or current consumption.

Over the decade, the financial services industry grew at an

extraordinary rate, in part by creating debt instruments seemingly

tailored to every need and financial assets for any portfolio-

While households took advantage of a number of these new instruments,

the bulk of them were directed toward business. Mergers and

acquisitions took off, financed essentially by debt, resulting in net

retirements of equity that averaged nearly $100 billion annually between

1984 and 1989.

More recently, with debt levels relatively high and lenders

less eager to extend credit, markets have changed. One aspect of this

change shows up dramatically in data for the second quarter, where

equity issuance by nonfinancial corporations is estimated to have

exceeded equity retirements for the first time in eight years/ removing

this element behind the buildup of debt. While much of the weakness in

credit demand at present reflects cyclical influences, borrowers likely

will continue to shy away from the heavy expansion of debt seen in the

1980s.

On the supply side of the credit market, perhaps the major

factor at work in creating a break with the behavior of the 1980s has

been the adverse consequences of that behavior. It is now clear that a

significant fraction of the credit extended during those years should

not have been extended. We need merely look at the recent string of

defaults and bankruptcies, and the condition of many of our financial

intermediaries to confirm this impression.
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In a sense, this process may have been very nearly inevitable.

With the financial system groping toward a new equilibrium, the

likelihood of mistakes was high. Laxity by lenders abetted the spiral

of debt, and we regulators were too often slow to intervene. Now,

financial institutions, regulators, and taxpayers are facing the

wrenching unwinding of those lending decisions. A key lesson to be

learned is how important it is to avoid these costly adjustments in the

future and that this can only be done by avoiding a return to such

financial laxity.

Going forward) we likely will see a continuation of the "credit

correction" now under way. One aspect of this correction is the

increased attention paid by regulators and the financial markets to the

capital positions of financial intermediaries. The more prudent

approach to capitalization and lending decisions is overwhelmingly a

healthy development that ultimately will result in strengthened balance

sheets for the nation's financial institutions and more assurance of

stability of the financial system.

In certain areas, however, the credit retrenchment appears to

have gone beyond a point of sensible balance. In some cases, lender

attitudes and actions have been characterized by excessive caution.

As a result, there doubtless are creditworthy borrowers that are unable

to access credit on reasonable terms. Even in the obviously troubled

real estate area, new loans are arguably too scarce, in some cases

intensifying the illiquidity of the market for existing properties. To

an extent, the scarcity of some types of loans may reflect the efforts

of individual financial institutions to reduce the share of their assets
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in a particular category, such as commercial mortgages. While a single

bank may be able to do this without too much trouble, when the entire

industry is trying to make the same balance sheet adjustment, it simply

cannot be done without massive untoward effects. Instead, it may be in

the banks' self-interest to make the adjustment in an orderly manner

over time. Regulatory efforts to address credit availability concerns

continue.

Credit conditions remain tight is some sectors, but in others

the situation appears to have improved considerably since our last

Report in February. To chronicle briefly what we know about credit

supply conditions at present: In financial markets generally, risk

premiums and spreads between yields on different types of debt have

declined substantially this year as investor attitudes have improved.

In part reflecting this narrowing, corporate bond offerings surged over

the first half of the year. Banking firms, too, gained increased access

to capital markets, leaving them in a better position to lend as credit

demands begin to pick up in the recovery. Indexes of bank stock prices

rose much more rapidly than the stock market as a whole, bringing the

average market value of shares in the top fifty bank holding companies

back up to around their book value. Yield spreads on bank-related debt

obligations narrowed sharply over the first half of the year, prompting

considerable issuance. Thus far, however, lending by commercial banks

has remained quite weak. To the extent we can judge, this appears

primarily to reflect weak credit demand, as is typical at this point in

the business cycle. Nonetheless, supply restrictions remain a

problem. This so-called "credit crunch" owes importantly to financial
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institutions' efforts to build capital to meet the demands of both the

market and the regulators. Information on lending terms, however,

suggested little £urther tightening over the spring.

Hot only the behavior of the debt aggregate itself/ but also

the avenues through which the debt flows, represent something of a break

with the past. The recent decline in the importance of depository

institutions as intermediaries, when measured by the credit they book,

is quite striking. While this predominantly reflects the contraction of

the thrift industry, banks, too, have contributed by growing only

slowly. Over time, other financial institutions have provided more

close substitutes for banking services, and the profitability of the

banking industry suffered over the last decade or so from a decline in

loan quality. Moreover, recent emphasis on higher capital ratios and

higher deposit insurance premiums should affect this trend as well.

Even as the economy has firmed, financial flows through

depository institutions have remained weak. Some lag is typical.

Indeed, in the case of business loans, there is enough of a regularity

that they are included in the Department of Commerce's Index of Lagging

Economic Indicators. But lending to businesses has been unusually weafc

for some time now and the outlook is for a rather modest upturn when it

comes. At the same time that decisions to purchase goods and services

are made, decisions about the financing of those purchases are usually

being made. Increasingly, it appears that those decisions are not

being reflected in credit on the books of depository institutions.

Banks still may be involved, however. They may, for example, provide

letters of credit or arrange financing through a special-purpose

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



54

-16-

corporation. Mortgage and consumer debt may pass through the balance

sheets of these intermediaries only briefly, as it ia increasingly being

securitiied and sold into capital markets. As banks make further

strides in bolstering their capital positions, however, they will become

better able to take advantage of opportunities to add profitable loans

to their balance sheets. While the role of the banking industry has

been changing, its importance in the financial system and the economy

remains assured.

In sum, the financial system in this country is changing, and

it is changing rapidly. Technology, regulatory initiatives, and market

innovations are changing many dimensions of the financial system. The

relationships between borrowers and lenders, between risk and balance-

sheet exposure, and between credit and money are being altered in

profound ways. In response, we must understand the nature of these

changes, their permanence, their limitations, and their possible

implications for the economy and monetary policy. And we must ensure

that the stability of the financial system is protected as changes

occur, for a sound financial system is an essential ingredient of an

effective monetary policy and a vital economy.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE
FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM
Washington, D.C., July 16, 1991

THE PRESIDENT OF THE SENATE
THE SPEAKER OF THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

The Board of Governors Is pleased to submit its Monetary Policy Report to the Congress, pursuant to the
Full Employment and Balanced Growth Act of 1978.

Sincerely,
Alan Greenspan, Chairman
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Section 1: Monetary Policy and the Economic Outlook for 1991 and 1992

When the Federal Reserve presented its last mone-
tary policy report to the Congress, in February of this
year, the economy was still in a downswing that had
been precipitated by Iraq's invasion of Kuwait in
August 1990 and the associated spike in oil prices. To
be sure, several developments early in the year had
created conditions that promised to help foster a turn-
around in the economy: Not only had oil prices re-
versed most of their earlier runup, but monetary policy
had been eased substantially in the final months of 1990
and the early part of this year. However, the economy
continued lo weaken for a time, and policy was eased
further into the spring, with the objective of ensuring a
satisfactory recovery.

Recent evidence suggests that a pickup in activity
probably is now under way. Much of the uncertainty
that had depressed business and consumer sentiment
was removed by the successful end of hostilities in the
Persian Gulf. The resulting improvement in confi-
dence, combined with the boost to real purchasing
power provided by the retreat in oil prices, raised
consumer spending on balance over the late winter and
spring. These same factors, as well as lower mortgage
rates, also have spurred a gradual recovery in the
housing sector. Reflecting the stimulus from housing
and consumer demand, along with the continued growth
in U.S. exports, industrial production turned up in
April and has advanced appreciably since then; in
addition, labor demand showed signs of stabilizing
during the spring.

As anticipated earlier this year, inflation has slowed
from its pace in 1990. Retail energy prices came down
substantially during the first half of the year, and the
rise in consumer food prices moderated after several
years of relatively large increases. More generally, ihe
softness of labor and product markets has attenuated
price pressures for a range of goods and services. This
downdrift in "core" inflation was difficult to discern
earlier in the year because of a bunching of price
increases in January and February; however, most of
the significant increases in Ihose months either did not
continue or were reversed.

The Federal Reserve's easing moves over the first
pan of the year were taken not only in light of the
contraction of economic activity and the progress in
reducing inflationary pressures, but also wereprompted
by the continued slow growth of the monetary aggre-
gates early in the year and continuing credit restraint by
banks and other intermediaries. Reserve market condi-

tions were held steady after April, however, as evi-
dence began to accumulate that the economy w'as on
track toward recovery. Reflecting the Federal Re-
serve's policy actions and generally weak credit de-
mands, short-term interest rates declined appreciably
during the first half. Longer-term rates, which had
moved do^n markedly in the final months of 1990,
were mixed over the first half; with bond market
participants focusing on signs of an emerging recov-
ery". Treasury bond yields rose a bit, while rales on
bonds issued b> businesses fell as risk premiums
narrowed sharply. !n the stock market, sh;ire prices
have registered sizable increases since January, and
broad indexes remain within a few percent of the
all-time highs set in the spring. Meanwhile, the value
of the dollar has climbed substantially on foreign
exchange markets, supported by the successful conclu-
sion of military operations in the Gulf, expectations of
a recovery in the U.S. economy, and by economic
developments in Germany and political difficulties in
the Soviet Union.

In response to Federal Reserve casings and associ-
ated declines in short-term interest rates, growth of
both M2 and M3 strengthened somewhat in the first
half relative to [he slow pace of the second half of 1990.
The expansion of M2 exceeded that of nominal GNP
and its velocity thus fell, although not as much as might
have been expected given the decline in short-term
interest rates. The continued muted response of M2 to
the casings in short-terrn rates probably reflected the
ongoing rerouting of credit outside of depositories and
an effort on the part ol savers to maintain yields on their
assets by turning to the stock and bond markets,
sometimes via mutual funds. Growth of M3 was
boosted early in the year by strong issuance of large
time deposits by U. S. branches and agencies of foreign
banks in response to a reduction in reserve require-
ments around the end of the year. In the second quarter,
however, the expansion of M3 slowed as issuance of
time deposits at foreign banks waned, and depository
credit and associated funding needs contracted.
Through June, both M2 and M3 had grown at rates
somewhat below the midpoint of their annual growth
ranges.

Credit growth was slow in the first half of the year.
The federal government's borrowing requirements were
held down by reduced levels of activity by the Resolu-
tion Trust Corporation (RTC) and by contributions
from foreign countries to cover the costs of Operation
Desert Storm. Growth of the debt of private sectors
was restrained by slack demand associated with the
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weakness olthe economy and by a reduced appetite for
leveraging. On the latter score, a lasting shift toward
more conservative patterns of credit use would be a
fundamentally healthy development; the excesses of
(he 1980s clearly left us \viih problems in OUT financial
sector that wil l take some time to resolve. In part
reflecting earlier credit loss.es. banks continued to be
cautious lenders through the first half. However, pri-
vate borrowers who turned to securities markets found
readier access 10 capital as the economic outlook
brightened and risk premiums narrowed dramatically;
financial intermediaries as well as nonfinancial firms
issued large volumes of equity and longer-term debt,
making significant progress in strengthening their bal-
ance sheets.

Monetary Objectives for 1991 and 1992

At its meeting earlier this month, the FOMC reaf-
firmed, us previously established canges for money and
credit for 1991. The target range for M2 had been
lowered in February to 2''2 to6'/; percent from the 3 to
7 percent range that had been in place for 1990. To date
this year. M2 has grown at an annual rate of a little less
than 4 percent, placing \\ well within the target range
for 1991 as a whole This, in effect, leaves the Com-
mittee some room to maneuver as events unfold in the
coming months, while remaining within the annual
range. The potential need for such room arises in part
in connection with ihe significant uncertainties attend-
ing the prospects for the velocity of M2. If, for
example, the public's demand for M2 balances should
be damped by moves among depository institutions to
lower deposit rates (in response to earlier declines in
market yields and to higher insurance premiums), then
velocity might tend to be stronger than otherwise
would be the case and less M2 growth would be
required to support a given rate of GNP increase. If, on
the other hand, institutions were to become more
aggressive in bidding for loanable funds in the retail
deposit market, and thus the public began to shift its

portfolio back in favor of M2 assets, then velocity
could weaken and faster M2 growth might be required.
The Committee expects that the current annual growth
range will permit it to deal with such velocity-altering
disturbances in money supply and demand while it
fosters financial conditions conducive to moderate
economic growth and further progress toward price
stability.

The 1 to 5 percent range for M3 adopted in February
took account of the expected continued contraction in
the thrift industry and associated redirection of credit
Hows away from depository institutions. The assets of
thrift institutions are expected to shrink further in the
second half, owing in large part to closures by (he
RTC. Issuance of large time deposits by branches and
agencies of foreign banks has moderated, but domestic
banks may have a greater appetite for funds in the
second half as sound lending opportunities increase
with the projected improvement in ihe economy.

Even though growth of the aggregate debt of domes-
tic nonfinancial sectors at midyear was at the lower end
of its current 4'/i to 81/: percent monitoring range, the
Committee anticipates that the debt measure w i l l end
the year well within that range. Stronger private credit
demands are expected to arise as the economy grows,
and federal borrowing wil l increase to finance
stepped-up RTC activity. However, debt growth is
likely to continue to be damped by the shift in attitudes
about leveraging.

In setting provisional ranges for 1992. the Commit-
tee chose to carry forward the 1991 ranges for the
monetary aggregates and for debt. Recognizing that
the ranges had been reduced significantly over the past
few years, the Committee at this time believes that
expansion of money and debt in 1992 within the current
ranges probably would be consistent with consolidat-
ing and extending the gains that have been made to date
toward lower inflation, while providing sufficient li-
quidity to support a sustainable expansion of economic

Ranges for Growth of Monetary and Credit Aggregates

Percent change,
fourth quarter to
fourth quarter

M2

M3

Debt

1990

3 to 7

1 to 5

5 to 9

1991

2V2 to 6Vy

1 to 5

4Vz to 8'/2

Provisional for 1992

2V2 to 6Vs

1 to 5

4V2 to 8V2
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Economic Projections for 1991 and 1992

FOMC Members and Other FRB Presidents Administration

1991

Percent change,
fourth quarter to fourth quarter

Nominal QNP
Real GNP
Consumer price index

Average level in the
fourth quarter, percent

Civilian unemployment rate

1992

Percent change,
tourth quarter to fourth quarter

Nominal GNP
Real GNP
Consumer price Index

Average level in the
fourth quarter, percent

Civilian unemployment rate

Range

3V4to53 /4
'/zto1Yz
3to4Y;

6'/2to7

4to63 /4
2 to3Yz
2Y2to4Y4

6to63/a

Central Tendency

4Vzto5Yt
3 /4tO 1
3'/4 to33/4

6 a /4 to7

2'/4lo3
3 to 4

6'/4 to6(/2

5.3
0.9
4.3'

6.6:

7.5
3.6
3.91

6.5s

activity. The ranges will, of course, be Devaluated
next February in light of intervening economic and
financial events. The Committee will want to update its
assessment of the underlying tendencies in the econ-
omy as well as in the relations between money and debt
expansion and economic performance. Although the
initial indications of money and credit ranges that arc
given in July always are tentative, flexibility seems all
the more warranted in the current circumstances, with
the economy apparently at a cyclical turning point and
the financial system being buffeted by fundamental
change.

Economic Projections for 1991 and 1992

The target ranges for the monetary aggregates and
debt have been selected with the objective of support-
ing a sound economic expansion accompanied by
declining inflation-a pattern the Board members and
Reserve Bank presidents generally expect to prevail
over the coming year and a half. Most forecast that real

GNP w i l l grow '4 to I percent over the four quarters of
1991; given the decline dur ing the first quarter, this
central tendency range for 1991 as a whole implies an
appreciable pickup inac t iv i ty over the remainder of the
year. The projections of growth in real GNP o\er the
four quarters of 1992 have a centra! tendency of 2 '4 to
3 percent.

In appraising the near-term outlook, the FOMC
participants have placed considerable weight on the
apparent absence ol"inventory overhangs in most sec-
tors. Accordingly, the recent firming of aggregate f ina l
demand is expected to bring a halt soon to the inventory
drawdowns that persisted into the second quarter. The
resulting swing in the pace of inventory investment is
expected to boost domestic production considerably
over the rest of 1991. As typically occurs in the initial
stage of a recovery, much of this rise in output is
expected to reflect gains in the productivity of existing
workers, rather than a marked pickup in employment.
Thus, the Board members and the Bank presidents
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project only modest progress in reducing unemploy-
ment over the second hull ' of the year, the central
tendenc) lor the Ch i l i an jobless rate in the fourth
quarter is 6'A to 7 percent

The pace of expansion mu> moderate somewhat in
1992. as the i n i t i a l impetus from the inventory swing
subsides and gains in production track the growth in
final demand more e lose lv . The advance in real GNP
expected for 1942. (hough subdued relative to that in
the ea r ly part of most previous expansions, is ant ici-
pated to reduce the margin ol slack in the econoim over
the year The central tendency of'the c ivi l ian unemploy-
ment rate projected for the fourth quarter of 1992 is 6 '/*
to 6V; percent, roughly '': percentage point below the
level expected in the fourth quarter ol this year,

Several factors lie behind the expectation ot a rela-
t ive ly mild upswing in economic ac t iv i ty . In real estate
markets, the persistent overhang of vacant space for
many t>pes ot bu i ld ings , along wi th continued caution
on the pun of lenders, l i ke ly will limit the amount of
new. construction. In addition, fiscal policy wi l l remain
moderately restr ict ive owing to the federal budget
agreement reached last fall and efforts by state and
local un i t s to correct serious imbalances in their bud-
gets; although th i s fiscal restraint u l t ima te ly wi l l
strengthen the L'.S economy by boosting domestic
saving and investment, its near-term effect wi l l he to
hold down aggregate demand. Further, with the per-
sonal saving rate already at a low level and some
households saddled with heavy debt burdens, con-
sumer spending is projected to grow at a relat ively slow
pace. Finally, ihe appreciation of ihe dollar this year
has offset some of the pre\ious declines in relative
prices ot" L'.S. goods in international markets, thus
l imi t ing the contr ibut ion lhat can be expected from the
external sector.

By adopting policies intended to put the economy on
a path of moderate, •.usIarrtaWe grow-th, ihe Board
members and Reserve Bank presidents believe that it
w i l l be possible to achieve meaningful progress in
reducing inflation over the remainder of this year and
into 1992 The central tendency of the forecasted rise
in the total consumer price index is 3 W to 3-14 percent
over the four quarters of 1991 and 3 to 4 percent over
1992. well helow the 6'4 percent rise over the four
quarters of 1990. In each of the prior three years.
1987-89, theCPI rose about 4 "2 percent

The common midpoint of the forecast ranges for CP!
increases in 1991 and 1992, 3'/j percent, masks the

downtrend in core inf la t ion anticipated over the next
year and a half. In particular, most of the slowing of
inf la t ion observed thus far this year has reflected the
sharp drop in energy prices and a move toward smaller
increases in food prices; excluding food and energy,
the deceleration in the CPI so tar has been relat ively
small. However, w i th the tempering of labor-cost
increases now under way and the reduced pressure on
plant u t i l i za t ion , core inflation is expected to recede
signi f icant ly in coming quarters. As these declines
become widely perceived, expectations of inflation
should moderate, reinforcing the tendencies toward
deceleration. By reducing and ul t imately e l iminat ing
the distortion to resource allocation stemming from
ongoing, generated price increases, a monetary pol-
icy aimed at achieving price stability over time wil l
enhance the economy's potential to grow and therebv
raise standards of l iving.

The Administration's economic project ions for 1991.
presented in the budge!, differ from (he prw/i'clions ol
Federal Reserve policymakers mainly with respect
to expectations for the consumer price index. The
Administration forecast, at 4.3 percent, is above the
Federal Reserve central tendency: however, recent
statements by Administration officials suggest that this
number will be lowered in the mid-session update ot
the budget. As regards 1992, the Administration is
somewhat more optimistic about prospects for real
GNP growth whi le it is anticipating an increase in
consumer prices near the upper end of the central
tendenc) of Board members' and Bank presidents'
forecasts. This combination of output and inflation
places the Administration's forecast of nominal GNP
growth next year somewhat above the range of projec-
tions by the FOMC participants. Given the obvious
limitat ions on anyone's abi l i ty to forecast the economic
future, these differences certainly cannot he said to be
large- and the forecasts do have the important com-
mon feature of pointing to a relatively moderate recov-
er,' with Inflation remaining below the average pace of
the past few years. And, in l ight of the uncertainties
attending the behavior of the velocities of money and
credit in the present period of flux in patterns of
intermediation, there appears to be no necessary incon-
sistency between the Administration's economic fore-
cast and the FOMC's financial ranges for 1991 and
1992. The FOMC. of course, will be reviewing the
prospects for the economy, along with those for veloc-
ity, when it reconsiders the 1992 ranges for money and
credit next February.
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Section 2: The Performance of the Economy During the First Half of 1991

Economic activity contracted appreciably this past
fall and winter. Although the economy had been slug-
gish during the first half of \99Q, real gross national
product registered a further increase in the third quar-
ter, and a substantial downturn in activity began only
after the jump in oil prices that followed Iraq's, invasion
of Kuwait. With consumer and business confidence
badly shaken and real income depressed by the higher
oil prices, employment and production declined mark-
edly starting in October; real GNP fell at a 1,6 percent
annual rate in the fourth quarter. The civilian unem-
ployment rate, which had held around the relatively
low level of 5 L/a percent during the first half oflast year,
rose steadily over the second half, to just over 6 percent
at year-end.

The downward momentum in activity carried into
the early part of 1991. Industrial production fell through
the first quarter, and the shrinkage of private-sector
payrolls continued through April, as firms moved
aggressively to reduce inventories and to trim labor
costs in response to the weakening of final demand.
However, much of the negative impetus to activity was
reversed by the cumulative drop in oil prices that
occurred between October and February and by the
boost (o confidence that accompanied the swift and
successful conclusion of the Persian Gulf war. These
events, combined with a considerable easing of mone-
tary' policy, set the stage for a recovery, and a few
sectors ot the economy actually hit bottom quite early
in the year. Notably, construction of single-family
homes, which in past recessions turned up before
the economy as a whole, reached its low point in

Real GNP
percent change, annual rate

1989 1990 1991

January, as did real consumer spending and real per-
sonal income.

Recently, further evidence has emerged to indicate
lhat economic activity, in the aggregate, stabilized or
began to move up in the second quarter. Much of this
evidence is to be found in developments in the labor
market. Initial claims for unemployment insur-
ance- an indicator of the pace of job loss — h a v e fallen
from their high level in March; employment on non-
farm payrolls edged up on balance over May and June,
after ten months of decline; and the length of the
average workweek increased noticeably in May and
June. In addition, industrial production advanced in
April, May, and June, with these gains propelled
init ial ly by an upturn in the output of motor vehicles
and parts. Although these indicators are subject to
revision and thus should be read with considerable
caution, the weight of the available evidence points in
the direction of economic recovery,

The magnitude and length of the recent recession
still are not known with certainty, but the decline in real
GNP appears to have been considerably smaller than
the average decline (luring the previous post-World
War II recessions; for the industrial sector alone,
production dropped 5 percent between the peak in
September of last year and (he tow point in March,
compared with an average fall-off of nearly 10 percent
during previous recessions. The recent contraction
also seems to have been relatively short by historical
standards. Aggregate job losses, however, were close
to the average in previous recessions, suggesting that
firms cut payrolls vigorously given the fairly shallow
drop inreal activity. The resulting rise in the unemploy-
ment rate, though, was damped relative to that in
earlier contractions, as unusually slow growth of the
labor force held down the number of job seekers; the
level of the unemployment rate in June of this year,
"? percent, was about % percentage point below the
average jobless rate at the end of previous recessions.

Consumer price inflation, which exceeded 6 percent
last year, slowed to a 234 percent annual rate over the
first five months of 1991. Consumer energy prices fell
sharply early this year, after soaring during the second
half of 1990. In addition, the rate of increase in food
prices has retreated this year from the pace registered
during the preceding three years.

Apart from food and energy, price increases were
large early in the year, but have been tno.ce moderate in
recent months. In January and February, prices were
boosted by hikes in federal excise taxes and postal rates
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and by the passthrough of the energy price increases in
1990 to a wide range of goods and services. With no
further increases in these federal charges and the
reversal of energy prices beginning to show through to
other items, the CPI excluding food and energy rose
much more slowly over the three months ended in
May. On balance, over the first five months of 1991,
this ponton of the CPI increased a bit more than
5 percent at an annual rate, about </i percentage point
below the trend rate of increase as of last summer. In
part, (he recent headway made on inflation reflects the
reduction in labor-cost pressures that accompanied the
rise in unemployment. As measured by the employ-
ment cost index, compensation per hour increased a! an
average annual rate of 4 Vi percent over the second half
of 1990 and (hefirst quarter of this year, compared with
the 5 W percent (annual rate) rise over the first half tif
1990.

The Household Sector

Consumer spending was an area of notable weak-
ness last fali and early this year, largely in response lo a
substantial decline in real income; purchasing power
was cut initially by the jump in oil prices, but it
continued to fall even after oil prices were in retreat,
reflecting the ongoing declines in employment. Real
consumer outlays dropped sharpiy between September
and January, with the monthly pattern of spending
distorted to a degree by tax changes that caused some
households to shift purchases from early 1991 into late
last year. All told, real consumer spending fell at a
1 'A percent annual rate in the first quarter, after a
3'A percent (annual rate) decline in the fourth quarter
of 1990. However, in February, real income turned up
and consumer confidence rebounded late in the month
with the end of the Gulf war; both developments
bobtered consumer spending. As a result of the spend-
ing gains that began in February, the average level of
outlays in April and May stood considerably above the
first-quarter average.

Among the major components of consumer spend-
ing, outlays were cut back sharply for motor vehicles
and other durable goods as the recession unfolded.
Indeed, between the third quarter of 1990 and the first
quarter of this year, real consumer oullays for motor
vehicles fell at a 23 percent annual rate; the resulting
level of such outlays in the first quarter was the lowest
recorded since 1984. Substantial cuts also were made
in purchases of nondurable goods. In contrast, con-
sumer outlays for services trended up at a pace only
slightly below thai registered during the first three
quarters of 1990. Since the January trough in total

consumer outlays, purchases of both durable and non-
durable goods have turned up. In particular, as of May,
real consumer purchases of motor vehicles had risen
about 8 percent from the depressed January level;
separate data on unit sales of new cars and light trucks
suggest that further gains were registered in June.

During late 1990 and early this year, total consumer
outlays fell more sharply than they had in most previ-
ous postwar recessions. The steepness of the drop this
time mainly reflects the unusual weakness in several
components of income out of which the propensity to
consume is high. Most important, nominal wages and
salaries fell more in this recession than would have
been expected given the magnitude of the decline m
nominal GN'P, as firms moved aggressively to control
costs by trimming payrolls. In addition, because the
share of unemployed persons receiving unemployment
insurance benefits declined during the 1980s, smaller
payments were made to job losers than in earlier
downturns. The weakness in these components of
nominal income wascompounded, in real terms, by the
spurt in energy prices.

Although consumers cut back spending, they cush-
ioned some of the effect of weak income by reducing
their savings. After averaging about 5 percent over the
first half of 1990, the personal saving rate dropped to
4.2 percent in the third quarter and remained at that
level through the first quarter of this year. The decline
in the saving rate occurred despite some deterioration,
on net, in wealth positions during the second half of
1990, which reflected the softening of house prices and
losses in the stock market. The average level of the

income and Consumption
Percent change, annual rate

I I Real Disposable Personal Income

Real Personal Consumption
Expenditures

1989 1990 1991
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Personal Saving
Percent of disposable income, quarterly average

April-May
Average

1989 1991

saving rate dropped another natch in the spring, 10
about 3 & percent. The bounceback in the stock market
and the improvement in confidence may have contrib-
uted to this decline, but the explanation also could
involve the reduction in personal interest income asso-
ciated with the lowering of short-term interest rates
between last fall and this spring. Historically, con-
sumer spending has been rather insensitive to move-
ments in interest income, so that a decline in such
income causes the saving rate to fall in the short run.
Thai said, the saving rate is now at the lowest level
since late 1987, and it would not be surprising if gains
in consumption lagged behind those for income in the
near term as households worked to rebuild net worth
through increased saving.

The recession placed some strains on household
finances, as indicated by the increase in delinquency
rates for all types of consumer loans in the first quarter.
By far the sharpest rise occurred for credit card debt,
for which the first-quarter delinquency rale was close
to the highest on record. This jump partly reflects the
relaxation of credit standards by major card issuers in
recent years; at the same time, relatively low-risk
borrowers with access to home equity lines of credit
evidently have reduced their reliance on credit cards.
Because of the resulting deterioration in the pool of
credit card users, the rise in delinquencies for this type
of debt probably overstates the degree of stress in the
household sector as a whole. For other types of con-
sumer loans, the first-quarter delinquency rates were
not out of line with those typically seen during reces-
sions, despite the currently high level of debt relative to
disposable income. Apparently, the rise in asset values
during the 1980s left most households with sufficient
wherewithal to cover the expanded level of debt.

Thus, although the recession has weakened ihe finan-
cial position of the household sector, the siiuation
does not appear worse than that at the end of other
downturns.

Residential construction activity, which had been
trending lower since 1986. slumped further in the
second half of last year. However, the market for
single-family homes bottomed out in January and has
staged a mild recovery since then, spurred by a firming
of demand. Several factors account for the pickup in
demand, including the decline in home prices to more
affordable levels in a number of markets, improved
prospects for employment and income, and some
reduction in mortgage rates from those prevailing in
ihe middle of last year. Recent survey results show a
more favorable attitude toward hoinetniying among
consumers than at any time since 1988. Reflecting this
shift in sentiment, sales of existing homes have risen
substantially from their low in January. Although sales
of new homes have been less impressive, the higher
level prevailing since February has reduced consider-
ably the inventory of unsold new homes relative to
sales; in response, home builders have boosted produc-
tion to satisfy consumer demand. Despite continued
caution on the part of lenders in granting land acquisi-
tion and construction loans, the quantity of financing
available appears sufficient, on balance, to support a
further recovery in this sector.

In contrast, the market for multifamily housing has
continued to weaken this year. Starts in May were at the
lowest monthly level since the 1950s. Moreover, even
with the greatly reduced pace of new construction in
recent years, the vacancy rate for multifamily units has
remained exceptionally high. Given current conditions
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in the market, bolh lenders and potential investors
recognize that the number of viable projects is quite
limited.

The Business Sector

During the latter part of 1990 and the first quarter of
this year, the business sector experienced considerable
stress. Demand for business output was depressed both
by the loss of domestic purchasing power and by the
enormous uncertainties created by the situation in the
Persian Gulf. In response to the slump in demand,
industrial production turned downward last October; it
continued to fall through March. The combination of
plummeting sales and rising energy prices caused
profit margins, which were already slim, to shrink
further in most industries during the second half of
1990. In the first quarter, before-tax profits from
current operations for U.S. corporations edged down
from the low fourth-quarter level.

Industrial Production
Index 1937 = 100

June

105

An unusual feature of the recent recession was ihe
speed with which producers cut output in order to avoid
a buildup of inventories. The promptness of this adjust-
ment likely reflected a combination of factors. The
downturn in final demand was widely anticipated, and
some producers cut output pre-emptively, rather than
risk being saddled with excessive stocks. In addition,
improved systems for monitoring and controlling in-
ventories have been installed in recent years, which
enabled firms to react quickJy to signs of slowing
demand. Further, the relatively heavy debt burdens in
the corporate sector created substantial financial pres-
sures for many firms and focused attention on the need
to cut costs.

Before-tax Profit Share oi Gross Domestic
Product'

Percent

Norrfmancial Corporations

1987 1989 1991

' Profits from domestic operations with inventory valuation
arid capital consumption adjustments, divided by
gross domestic product of nonlinancial corporate sector

Accordingly, inventories were runoff at a rapid clip
beginning late last summer. Automakers slashed pro-
duction and inventories particularly aggressively; do-
mestic output of motor vehicles in the first quarter was
nearly 30 percent below that in the third quarter of
1990. The resulting drawdown of inventories at auto
dealers accounted for fully one-half of the total liquida-
tion of nonfarm slocks during the fourth quarter and the
first quarter. Despite production cutbacks by the auto-
makers and other producers, the inventory-to-sales
ratio for total manufacturing and trade moved up
through January. However, by May, the ratio had
retraced most of the runup that began with the onset of
ihe recession, reflecting the continued liquidation of
stocks and an upturn in sales.

Changes in Real Nonfarm Business Inventories
Annual rate, billions of 1982 dollars

30

1989 1990 1991
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Inventories in most industries appear now to be
reasonably well aligned with sales, and output has
begun to rise with the expansion of final demand.
After reachinga trough in March, industrial production
expanded at more than a 7 percent annual rate over the
next three months; although stronger output of motor
vehicles and parts accounted for most of the increase
early in the second quarter, the gains in recent months
have been more widespread. Orders for a range of
manufactured goods firmed in April and May, pointing
to a further pickup in production during the summer.

Business spending for fixed investment was flat in
real terms during the fourth quarter of last year and
dropped sharply during (he first quarter of this year.
Several factors worked to reduce outlays, including the
casing of pressures on capacity, the diminished level of
cash flow, and the general atmosphere of uncertainty
related to events in the Persian Gulf. Real spending for
equipment plunged in the first quarter; measured ii\
percentage terms, the decline was the sharpest quar-
terly fall-off recorded in nearly eleven years. Re-
flecting ttie difficulties in the manufacturing sector, real
spending for industrial equipment dropped at mote
than a 20 percent annual rate, after smaller declines in
the preceding five quarters. Real business outlays for
motor vehicles were cut at nearly a 35 percent annual
rate in the first quarter, sinking to the lowest level
since mid-1983. Purchases of computers and other
information-processing equipment also were scaled
back in the first quarter, and outlays edged down for
aircraft, for which real spending had jumped 60 per-
cent over the four quarters of 1990.

The pace of nonresident]a! construction fell substan-
tially during the fourth quarter of 1990 and the first
quarter of 1991. Although this decline was broadly
based, the steepest contraction occurred for office and
other commercial buildings. Activiiy in this sector
actually peaked in 1985 and has trended lower since
then in response to persistently high vacancy rates and
the removal of important las benefits. In the industrial
sector, the rate of plant construction has been damped
by the emergence of serious excess capacity in a
number of major industries. Petroleum drilling activ-
ity, which moved up a bit late last year, retreated in the
first quarter with the price declines for crude oil and
natural gas; data on drilling rigs in use indicate a
further weakening of activity in the second quarter.

Business spending for new equipment typically does
not turn up until several months after the end of a
recession, and the lag is often substantially longer for
construction outlays. As yet, there is little sign of a
rebound in spending for either equipment or nonresi-
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dential structures. Nonetheless, shipments of indus-
trial equipment and other nondefense capital goods -a
coincident indicator of equipment spending—have sta-
bilized in recent months. Similarly, although vacancy
rates remain high for commercial buildings, the steep-
est declines in total nonresidential construction activity
may be over; in April and May, the average level of
activity was about unchanged from the first-quarter
average, and the downtrend in forward-looking indica-
tors, such as construction contracts and permits, has
slowed considerably.

The Government Sector

The federal budget deficit over the first eight months
of fiscal year 1991 was $175 billion, compared with the
$151 billion deficit recorded during the same part of
fiscal year 1990. The deficit during the current fiscal
year has been boosted considerably by the slowdown in
economic activity, and thiscyclical increase has masked
the fiscal restraint imposed by last autumn's budget
agreement. On the revenue side, federal tax receipts
have been held down by the anemic growth of nominal
income since last fall; indeed, personal income tax
payments so far this fiscal year are little changed from
the payments made during the same period a year
earlier. The slowdown in activity also has raised the
deficit by increasing outlays for income-support pro-
grams such as unemployment insurance, food stamps,
and Medicaid. These effects of the contraction have
been offset, to some degree, by the easingof short-term
interest rates, which has restrained the growth of
interest payments on the federal debt.

Although the deficit has risen during the current
fiscal year, the increase has been far smaller than that
projected roughly six months ago. At that time, the
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Administrat ion and [he Congressional Budget Office
both estimated thai the deficit for fiscal year 1991
would top $300 billion. Two developments have caused
the 1991 deficit to be lower than was expected, though
neither one indicates any fundamental improvement in
the budget situation. First, cash contributions from our
allies in Operation Desert Storm have exceeded the
outlays made to dale for U.S. involvement in the
Persian Gulf. The contributions not yet spent wil l be
used to pay for the replacement of munitions into fiscal
1992 and beyond. Second, federal outlays related to
deposit insurance were well below expectations during
the first quarter, mainly reflecting the slow pace at
which insolvent thrifts were resolved. The activities of
the RTC during that period apparently were hindered,
in pan. by a lack of funding; additional RTC funding
was enacted in late March, and the RTC has announced
a more rapid schedule of resolutions over the rest of the
year.

Federal purchases of goods and services, the pan of
federal spending that is included directly in GNP. rose
5 '4 percent in real terms over the four quarters of 1990.
This increase reflected the fourth-quarter rise in de-
fense purchases to suppon operations in the Persian
Gulf, as well as increases over the year in such
nondefense programs as law enforcement, space explo-
ration, and health research. In the first quancrof 1991,
real defense purchases moved above the already high
fourth-qua tier level, while nondefense purchases fell
somewhat on net, pushed down by sales of oil from the
Strategic Petroleum Reserve. Over the rest of 1991,
fiscal policy likely will be a restraining influence on the
economy, owing to the spending limits and tax in-
creases mandated by last fall's budget agreement

The fiscal position of state and local governments
has remained extremely weak in recent quarters. The
deficit in operating and capital accounts (that is, the
deficit excluding social insurance funds) stood above
$40 billion at an annual rate in both the fourth quarter of
1990 and the first quarter of 1991, after holding at a
$30 billion rate for a year. The recent increase in the
state and local deficit reflects, for the most part, a
cyclical shortfall in tax receipts. However, this cyclical
effect overlays structural imbalances that have been
growing for some time. Since mid-1986, when the
sector's accounts (excluding social insurance) were
roughly in balance, outlays have risen from about
13'/2 percent of nominal GNP to ]4'/j percent, while
revenues have held fairly steady relative to GNP. The
rise in the spending share reflects an expansion of
services largely related lo rapid growth in public
school enrollments, prison populations, and Medicaid
expenses.

During the past year, state and local governments
moved to address their mounting fiscal difficulties.
Many governments trimmed outlays relative to earlier
trends. Between the first quarter of 1990 and the first
quarter of 1991, real purchases by state and local
governments rose only about 1 percent, well below
the 3'/2 percent annual rate of increase averaged over
1985-89. Moreover, last year several states instituted
broad-based hikes in personal income and sales
taxes. Looking ahead, state budgets for fiscal year
1992 —which began on July 1 lor all but four states —
generally mandate significant further cost-cutting from
earlier plans. On balance, these budgets point to a weak
picture for real state and local purchases over the
current calendar year. Supplementing this restraint on
spending, many new budgets include a second wave of
major lax increases.

The External Sector

Over the first half of 1991, the foreign exchange
value of the dollar appreciated about 15 perceni, on
balance, in terms of the currencies of the other Group
of Ten (G-10) countries. The net appreciation over th i s
period reversed about two-thirds of the decline in the
dollar thai had occurred between the middle of 1989
and the end of 1990.

In early January, the dollar was boosted by investors
seeking a safe haven against the backdrop of growing
tensions in the Persian Gulf. However, once the All ied
bombing campaign commenced and was perceived as
going well, part of the safe-haven demand for dollars
evaporated, and the currency resumed its earlier de-
cline. Between mid-January and early February, the
dollar fell about 4 percent against the currencies of the
other G - I O countries. During this period, the U.S.
monetary authorities joined with foreign central banks
to support the dollar. Subsequently, the dollar surged
through the end of March, largely reflecting the quick
end of the war. which fueled widespread expectations
of an early rebound in the U.S. economy. The sharp
run-up prompted official sales of dollars during March
and April, mainly by European authorities. After
dropping back a bit , the value of the dollar rose again in
June on the accumulation of evidence suggesting that
the U.S. recession had ended.

On a bilateral basis, the dollar has appreciated about
20 percent this year against the German mark and by
similar amounts against the European currencies asso-
ciated with the mark. The weakness of these currencies
partly reflects economic difficulties in Germany and
the spillover effects of the turmoil in the Soviet Union
and Yugoslavia. In contrast, the dollar has not appre-
ciated nearly so much against the currencies of most of
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our other major trading partners. So far this year, the
dollar has risen less than 5 percent, unbalance, against
the Japanese yen and has changed even less against ihe
currencies of Canada. Korea. Singapore, and Taiwan.

The overall strengthening of the dollar this year has
at ted to restrain prices for non-oil imports. Over the
first quarter of 1991. these prices rose at a 2 "2 percent
annual rale, less than half the rate of increase recorded
between June and December of 1990; non-oil import
prices then fell during April and May, more than
reversing the entire first-quarter rise. The price ol
imported oil, which surged between August and Octo-
ber of last year, has since retraced most of the rise
induced by the Iraqi invasion of Kuwait . Taken to-
gether, these two developments contributed signifi-
cantly to the restraint on domestic inflation.

U.S. Real Merchandise Trade
Annual rate, billions of 1982 dollars
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Real merchandise imports declined in the first quar-
ter to a level about 5 percent below that in the third
quarter of 1990. with the drop largely reflecting the
weakness in domestic demand. Import volumes fell in
the first quarter for a wide range of non-oil products,
including consumer goods, motor vehicles, and indus-
trial supplies. Preliminary data for April show some
increase in non-oil imports, a pattern that is. likely to
continue with the apparent firming of domestic activ-
ity. The quanti ty of oil imports — w h i c h plunged after
th.e spurt in oil prices lust summer and remained
relat ively low early this year-has moved back up in
recent months, reflecting efforts to rebuild U.S. petro-
leum inventories.

Merchandise exports continued to move higher
through the spring, a factor that clearly tempered the
output loss in manufacturing after the oil shock last
year. In real terms, merchandise exports rose at a
10 percent annual rate between the third quarter of
1990 and the first quarter of this year, led by increased
sales of computers, other capital goods, and industrial
materials. Preliminary1 data indicate that merchandise
exports rose again in April. The competitive position
of U.S. companies has benefited, at lea^t until quite
recently, from the substantial drop in ihe dollar over
1990 and the latter part of 1989. However, recessions
m the economies of some of our major trading part-
ners, especially Canada and the United Kingdom, have
offset part of the st imulus to U.S. exports provided by
the rapid growth in such countries as Germany. Japan,
and Mexico.

The merchandise trade deficit narrowed to $74 bil-
lion (at an annual rate) in the first quarter ol" 1991.
compared with the SI 1 1 billion deficit in the fourth
quarter of 1990; the first-quarter deficit was the small-
est since mid-1983. The current account actually re-
corded a $41 billion (annual rate) surplus in the first
quarter, a sharp improvement from the $94 billion
deficit in the fourth quarter of 1990. Most of this
improvement reflected unilateral transfers associated
with Operation Desert Storm: The fourth-quarter def-
icit was boosted by a grant from the U S . government
to Egypt for Che purpose of repay ing outstanding loans,
while cash payments to the United States from our
coalition partners surged in the first quarter. Excluding
these cash contributions and the special grant to Egypt,
the current account moved from a deficit of $83 billion
in the fourth quarter to a deficit of $50 billion in the first
quarter.

A small net capital inflow was recorded in the first
quarter of 1991, as an increase in foreign official
holdings of reserve assets in the United States more
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U.S. Current Account
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than offset a net outflow of private capital. Within the
the private-sector accounts, there was a substantial
capital outflow in the first quarter associated with U.S.
direct investment abroad, the bulk of which was in the
countries of the European Community; at the same
time, capital inflows related to foreign direct invest-
ment in the United States fell to a low level. Increas-
ingly, multinational firms have raised funds in the
United States to finance direct investment here and
elsewhere, taking advantage of the relatively low level
of U.S. interest rates vis-a-vis those in other industrial
nations. With regard to other private transactions,
banks reported a small net capital inflow in the first
quarter, and net purchases of U.S. securities by private
foreigners about matched U.S. net purchases of for-
eign securities.

The net capital inflow during the first quarter, when
combined with the surplus on current account, implies
a large negative statistical discrepancy in the interna-
tional accounts. Nearly as large a discrepancy in (he
opposite direction was registered in the fourth quarter
of last year. These wide swings in the statistical
discrepancy, along with the huge size of the discrep-
ancy for 1990 as a whole, cast doubt on the accuracy of
buth the capital account and the current account data
used in the U.S. international accounts and highlight
the need to improve these data.

Labor Markets

Labor demand appears to have stabilized after con-
tracting sharply during the latter pan of 1990 and the
early pan of this year. Employment on private nonfann
payrolls peaked last June, edged lower through Sep-
tember, and then fell substantially in each month from

October through April. However, the most recent data
show that payrolls expanded slightly on balance over
May and June, and survey results suggest that firms
intend to increase employment further in the third
quarter.

The cumulative decline in private nonfarm employ-
ment through April was slightly more than 1W million
jobs, roughly a 1.7 percent drop. Although that per-
centage decline is close to the average experienced in
the other recessions after World War II, three indus-
tries had abnormally large job losses; construction;
retail and wholesale trade; and finance, insurance, and
real estate. The steep decline in construction employ-
ment likely reflected the unusuaily sharp fall-off in
office and other commercial construction, which com-
pounded the normal cyclical contraction in residential
building. In the trade sector, employment was de-
pressed by the sizable decline in consumer spending
and the high degree of financial distress among refail-
ers, some of whom were burdened with heavy debt
servicing costs as a result of leveraged buyouts. Em-
ployment in finance, insurance, and real estate —which
continued to rise during past recessions-edged lower
this time, reflecting the shakeout in the financial sector
and spillovers from the slump in real estate markets. In
contrast, the decline in manufacturing payrolls was
somewhat smaller than in previous contractions, largely
because the drop in industrial production was rela-
tively shallow. Employment in the services industries
continued to trend up during late 1990 and early 1991,
as it had in previous recessions, supported entirely by
gains in health services.

Although the size of the drop in private nonfarm
payroll employment was similar to that in previous
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Civilian Unemployment Rale
Quarterly average, percent

contractions, the decline in real GNP during the cur-
rent episode was relatively small. This contrast con-
firms the widespread impression that firms shed work-
ers lo an unusual degree during the recent downturn.
At the same time, die rise in the civilian unemployment
rate from 5.5 percent in July 1990 lo 7 percent this June
was not particularly large relative to the decline in real
GNP. Apparently, an unusual proportion of people
who lost jobs subsequently dropped out of the labor
force and thus were no longer counted as unemployed-
In addition, ihe muted rise in unemployment and (he
labor force in recent quarters may be part of a longer-
term deceleration in the rate at which women—espe-
cially younger women — have entered the labor market.
For this latter group, there has been a shift toward
additional school attendance and toward staying at
home to care for young children. By reducing the
number of new job seekers at a time when jobs were
quite hard to find, this shift held down the rate of
unemployment.

A variety of indicators suggest that labor demand
has stabilized in recent months. Perhaps the earliest
signal of this improvement was provided by the data on
initial claims, which peaked at a weekly rate of 535.000
in March and then dropped back to about 470,000 in
April; the pace of weekly claims has since moved
considerably lower. Employment on private nonfarm
payrolls rose in May, the first increase since the middle
of 1990. Although part of this gain was reversed in
June, firms continued to lengthen the average work-
week of their employees. This pattern of cautious
hiring combined with an extension of the workweek is
common in the early stage of a recovery; given the
expenses associated with hiring and firing, such a
strategy is a natural response to uncertainty about the
strength and duration of the pickup in demand. A

separate measure of employment, derived from a
survey of households, also suggesls that labor demand
has stabilized; the number of persons reporting them-
selves as employed was about flat on balance over the
second quarter, after falling sharply over the three
preceding quarters. Although the civilian unemploy-
ment rate continued to inch up over the second quarter,
increases in the jobless rate often occur during the first
several months of a recovery. With the brightening of
employment prospects, job seekers enter the labor
force at an increasing rate, raising unemployment until
hiring accelerates enough to outstrip the growth in
labor supply.

The slack opened up in labor markets since last
summer has helped damp increases in labor costs,
which had trended higher between the end of 1987 and
the middle of 1990. As indicated by the employment
cost index (ECI), increases in compensation per hour
for private industry workers accelerated from 3'A per-
cent during 1987 to about a 5!4 percent annual rate
during the first half of 1990; this measure of labor costs
covers both wages and payments for worker benefits.
The most recent ECI data show that compensation
costs rose at an average annual rate of 4 W percent over
the second half of 1990 and the first quarter of 1991, a
full percentage point below the peak rate recorded
early last year. Although this slowing of labor-cost
inflation was apparent in both wages and benefits, the
latter component of compensation decelerated the most
sharply, reflecting declines in nonproduction bonuses
and pension contributions per hour of work. However,
employer costs for insurance, which consist mainly of
health insurance premiums, continued to rise at close
to double-digit rates.

Employment Cost Index "
Percent change, Dec. to Dec
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Output per hour in the nonfarm business .sector was
essentially flat, on balance, over the year ended in the
first quarter of 1991, after declining during 1989 and
the early part of 1990. This pattern differed somewhat
from the usual cyclical experience. Typically, produc-
tivity condnues to rise until shortly before the business-
cycle peak, then turns down and falls sharply through
the early part of the ensuing recession. Productivity in
this episode declined well before the cyclical peak last
summer, as output growth slowed and firms continued
io hire at a relatively rapid pace. However, as demand
softened at the peak, firms began to trim payrolls, and
this pruning continued in an aggressive fashion through
the recession; as a result, output per hour was better
maintained during the 1990-91 contraction than during
previous do wn turns. In manufacturing, where compet-
itive pressures have been particularly intense, the
process of culling payrolls began well before the onset
of recession, which allowed productivity gains to
remain robust over the year leading up to the contrac-
tion. Athough productivity in manufacturing turned
down during the recession, the continued cutting of
factory jobs kept the drop in output per hour relatively
small by historical standards.

Price Developments
Inflation pressures have eased somewhat this year.

The bulk of last year's spike in energy prices has been
retraced, and the rare of increase in food prices has
slowed. In addition, the margin of slack in labor and
product markets that emerged during the recession is
placing downward pressure on price increases for
other goods and services; this trend toward slower
"core" inflation, however, was obscured early in the
year by a number of price increases that either were
one-time events or have since been reversed.

The Iraqi invasion of Kuwait last August precipi-
tated a sharp rise in oil prices that carried through to
early October. At that point, the posted price of West
Texas Intermediate oil, the benchmark for U.S. crude
prices, reached nearly $40 per barrel, more than
double the $16 price prevailing just three months
earlier. Then, between October and February, virtu-
ally all of this price spike unwound, chiefly as a result
of two developments. Saudi Arabia and other oil
producers boosted output to offset the embargo on Iraq
and Kuwait, and the Allied forces demonstrated that
they could prevent significant disruptions to supply. In
addition, prices were damped by the slowdown in
economic activity in the United States and other indus-
trial nations. After the end of hostilities in February,
OPEC sought to bolster prices by trimming produc-

Consumer Prices'
Percent change, Dec. to Dec.

1987 1989
' Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers
" Percent change from Dec 1990 to May 1991. annual rale

tion. This effort proved to be largely successful: The
posted price of West Texas Intermediate firmed to $20
per barrel in April and has changed little on balance
since then.

Energy prices for consumers have followed the
movements in world oil prices since last summer. The
CPI for energy peaked in November 1990 at a level 15
percent above that in July, and then fell sharply through
the first quarter of this year. By April, the decline in
crude oil prices had been fully passed through to
energy prices at the retail level. In May. consumer
energy prices edged back up, mainly reflecting price
increases for gasoline, the largest component of the
CPI for energy. Gasoline demand this spring appar-

Consumer Energy Prices *
Percent change, Dec. to Dec. „„

1987 1989 19!

' Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers.
' Percent change trom Dec 1990 to May 1991, annual rate
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ently was stronger than refiners had expected, and
inventories fell to exceptionally low levels. Along with
the light inventory situation, retail gasoline prices
may have been boosted by the mandatory switch to
cleaner-and more expensive—gasoline before the
summer driving season. However, as of early June,
gasoline inventories had moved back into the normal
seasonal range, and survey data suggest that pump
prices softened during the second half of June and into
early July.

Increases in consumer food prices this year have
slowed from the 5 W to 5 l/i percent range that prevailed
over the preceding three years. During the first five
months of 1991, the CPI for food rose at only a
y/4 percent annual rate, held down in large part by
price declines for dairy products and by roughly stable
prices on balance for meat, poultry, and eggs. Follow-
ing the typical pattern in agricultural cycles, prices for
these livestock products have been damped by an
expansion of supply that was itself spurred by the
relatively high prices of recent years. In addition, price
increases have been muted for many foods for which
labor and other nonfarm inputs represent a large share
of total cost. For example, the prices of food consumed
away from home rose at a 3 W percent annual rate over
the first five months of 1991, down from the 4V4 per-
cent increases over 1989 and 1990. The deceleration in
food prices this year would have been somewhat
greater but for a series of adverse weather develop-
ments that have raised prices for fresh fruits and
vegetables; given the short production cycles for many
of these products, the recent price increases should be
reversed, at least in part, in coming months.

Consumer Food Prices*
Percent change, Dec. to Dec.

Consumer Prices Excluding Food and Energy'
Percent Change, Dec. to Dec.

1987
' Consumer price index tor all urban consumers
" Percent change from Dec 199010 May 1991. 3

1991

1989 1991
1 Consume; Price (nde« for all urban consumers.
' Percent change from Dec. 1990 to May 1991, annual rate

The consumer price index for items other than food
and energy rose sharply during January and February,
but the jumps in those months reflected a number of
one-time or transitory increases. Higher federal excise
taxes went into effect on cigarettes and alcoholic
beverages, raising consumer prices for both items;
these tax hikes supplemented the increases in sales and
excise taxes that a number of states have imposed over
the past year. Postal rates also were raised 16percentin
February. Apparel prices climbed at double-digit an-
nual rates in both January and February, mainly owing
to the earlier-than-usual introduction of spring clothing
lines, which was not anticipated by the seasonal adjust-
ment factors employed by the Bureau of Labor Statis-
tics, More generally, the spurt in oil prices last fall
spilled over through early 1991 to prices for a wide
range of non-energy goods and services; this
pass through occurred via higher shipping costs and
price hikes for petroleum-based components. How-
ever, each of these factors boosting inflation proved to
be short-lived. After the large increases in January and
February, the CPI excluding food and energy rose at
just a 2!A percent annual rate between Febniary and
May. Apparel prices declined over this period, and
airfares—which are quite sensitive to changes in oil
prices—fell 10 percent (not an annual rate).

The uneven pace of inflation this year has tended to
obscure trends in the general level of retail prices.
Nonetheless, there is liitle doubt that the underlying
pace of inflation has moderated since last year. The
twelve-month change in the CPI excluding food and
energy-which held around 4'A percent throughout
1988, 1989. and the early part of 1990-moved up to
about 5W percent in August 1990, By May of this year.
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Ihe twelve-month change in this index had fallen back
to 5,1 percent. This figure slightly overstates the trend
rate of inflation because it includes the increases in
federal excise taxes and postal rales earlier this year; in
addition, the passthrough of lower energy prices to
non-energy items probably was not complete as of
May. Adjusting for both of these factors would put the
twelve-month change in the CPI excluding food and
energy a bit below 5 percent.

Price developments at earlier stages of processing
have been favorable this year, reflecting the easing of
capacity pressures and price declines for petrochemi-
cal products. The producer price index for finished
goods excluding food and energy rose at a 3 W percent
annual rate over the first six months of 1991, a bit
below the pace in 1990. Prices for intermediate mate-
rials excluding food and energy fell about 1V4 percent
at an annual rate between December and June. Spot
prices of raw industrial commodities plunged late last
year with the downturn in economic activity, and these
prices moved down somewhat further on balance over
the first half of 1991.

Producer Prices for Intermediate Materials
Excluding Food and Energy

Percent change, Dec. to Dec.

1987 1989 1991
1 Percent change liom Dec- 1990 to June 1991. annual rate

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



74

Section 3: Monetary and Financial Developments During the First Half of 1991

The progressive casing of money market conditions
initialed last fall as the economy weakened continued
through much of the first half of 1991. Since the end of
last year, open market operations, in combination with
two cuts of one-hall" percentage point in the discount
rate, have reduced the federal funds rate from 7 percent
to5-5i percent —the lowest level in well over a decade
These moves followed a number of easing*, m i n e final
month*, of 1990. including a one-half point reduction in
the discount rate in December, that already had brought
the federal funds rate down about a percentage point
As a consequence of these and earlier actions, the
federal funds rale has declined 4 percentage points
from its most recent peak in the spring of 1989.

The policv easmgs this year were undertaken to
foster a turnaround in the economy and to help ensure a
satisfactory expansion. They were prompted by evi-
dence that the economy was declining further and that
inflationary pressures were abating: early in the year,
cont inuing weakness in the monetary aggregates and
further restraint on credit availabil i ty, especially at
banks, also were important indications of the need for
additional policy easing. Policy actions led to a strength-
ening of money growth over the first half from the slow,
pace of earlier quarters, and both M2 and M? in June

Short-term Interest Rates
Percent

were in the middle portions of their annual ranees The
debt aggregate, by contrast, expanded at the lower end
of its monitoring range throughout the lirsi ha l f , held
down by s luggish spending and also bv a cautious
attitude toward additional debt bv both borrowers and
lenders. As the monetarv aggregates accelerated and
signs accumulated tha t the economy V L J S bottoming
out. the pace of policy casings slowed .md the las t such
move was made at the end ol A p r i l

Despite the drop in short-term interest rates, long-
term rates were mixed on balance over the f i r s t hal f ol
the year. In the wake of the rapid conclusion ot'ihe Gulf
war. expectations became widespread that there would
be a strengthening in aggregate demand and t h i s tended
to push \ ields on Treasury bonds a little higher and
contributed to an increase in the foreign exchange-
value of the dollar With the brighter outlook for the
economy, however, the r i sk entailed in holding p r i v a t e
obligations was seen as considerably reduced and
yields on corporate bonds fell and stock prices rose
However, substantial loan losses continued to aff l ic i
many financial intermediaries, and these ins t i tu t ions
maintained cautious at t i tudes toward extending new
loans, w h i c h were reflected in wide spreads nf lending
over borrowing rates and more s t r ingent nonpncc
terms on credit

—I 13 The Implementation of Monetary Policy

The Federal Reserve adjusted policy in three sepa-
rate steps in the first quarter of the year , extending the
series of moves initiated in the final months of 1990.
Amid signs of continuing sleep declines in economic
activity and abating inflation pressures, the Federal
Reserve eased reserve provis ion through open market
operations in January and again in early March, lead-
ing to a decline in the federal funds rate of a quarter
point each time, and reduced the discount rate one-half
percentage point on February 1. resulting in a similar-
sized decline in the federal funds rate.1 The monctarv

nd parlk to

1983 1985 1987 1989 1991

Last observation is for June 1991
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aggregates were very weak in January, and while
slrcnglhcning considerably in February and early
March, remained on a moderate growth track, espe-
cial ly taking into consideration the lack of expansion
late in 1490.

Other \hort-ienn rales generally tell about a percent-
age point o\er th i s period. The commercial hank prime
loan rate was reduced one-half percentage point in
earl) January in lagged response to earlier declines in
short-term rates. The drop apparently had been de-
layed as banks attempted lo hold down loan growth as
last year drew to a close, bolstering their capital
positions in response to market concerns and the initial
phase-in ol" risk-based capital requirements. The prime
rate was reduced again after the cut in the discount rate
in earlv February.

Longer-term rates also fell on balance over the first
t w o months of the year, under the influence of mone-
tary easings and prospects lor lower inflation, espe-
cially when it became clear that the Gulf" war would not
in ter rupt oil supplies. In i t ia l success in the Persian Gulf
also led briefly to weakness in the dollar in foreign
exchange markets, as safe-haven demands that had
been boosting Us value since hue in 1990. in the face of
a subs tant ia l eas ing of L'.S. monetary po l i cy .
evaporated.

In March, however, long-term market rates began to
firm on the rebound in consumer confidence and initial
indications of a turnaround in the housing market,
which were seen as pointing to a somewhat shorter and
milder recession than many had previously feared.
Rate increases were muted on private instruments,
though, as risk premiums began to shrink in response
u > brightening prospects for a recovery. These gains
extended even to below-investment-grade bonds, and
growing optimism was reflected as well in a strong
stock market m February and into March. The debt and
equity instruments of banks generally outperformed
broader indexes over this period, as the market appar-
ently expected their earnings to be bolstered by lower
short-term interest rates and the deterioration in ihe
quali ty of their loan portfolios to be limited as ihe
anticipated economic recovery materialized. Belter
prospects for a U.S. economic recovery about coin-
cided wi th a turn toward more pessimism regarding the
economic outlook abroad. As a result, the exchange
value of the dollar reversed and began to appreciate
sharply.

In the wake of the successful Gulf war and in view of
i n i t i a l signs that the System's earlier easing actions had
begun to take hold, the FOMC concluded at us meeting
in late March that the risks to the economy had become
more evenly balanced. Accordingly, the Committee
decided to end the formal tilt toward ease thai il had
adopted in mid-1990, when slowing money growth and
lightening credit availability aroused concerns that
financial conditions might be placing greaier-than-
anticipated restraint on economic acivity. Under the
previous instructions, the FOMC's directive to the
domestic trading desk at the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York had stipulated thai possible adjustments tn
reserve pressures between Committee meetings would
be more responsive lo unanticipated signs o ['economic
weakness and abating price pressures than lo unex-
pected evidence of strength. The directive issued at the
March meeting restored symmetry to these instruc-
tions concerning inlermeeling adjustments.

Interest rates generally declinedduring April, mainly
at the short end. reflecting market participants' disap-
pointment that the response they had expected to
earlier monetary easings and to the rebound in con-
sumer confidence had yel lo show through in measures
of economic activity. At the same time, with evidence
also continuing to point to a further abatement of
inflation, particularly as reflected in wage behavior.

Long-term Interest Rates

Monthly

Home mortgage

1983 1985 1987 1989 1991

Last observation is (or June 1991
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the Federal Reserve at the end of April reduced the
discount rate another one-half percentage point, allow-
ing about half that amount to show through to money
market rates. As was the case in February, this action
was followed by a one-half percentage point decline in
the bank prime rate. Despite further monetary ease, the
dollar continued to rally on foreign exchange markets,
in part boasted by political developments abroad,
particularly in the Soviet Union, and potential eco-
nomic difficulties in Germany.

Market interest rates were little changed until early
June, when they rose in response to the release of data
on employment and retail sales for May thai slrongly
suggested the trough of the recession had been reached
oral least was close at hand. The ensuing rise in interest
rates was particularly sharp at the long end of the
Treasury market. As signs of the recovery grew more
distinct and interest rates firmed, the dollar strength-
ened further, and by June had retraced all of its declines
of late 1990 and early 1991. On balance. Treasury
bond yields rose almost one-quarter percentage point
over the first half, while yields on investment-grade
corporates were down close to one-half percentage
point.

Monetary and Credit Flows

M2: Target Range and Actual Growth
Billions of dollars

Annual rates ol growth

Despite the continuing weakness in economic activ-

_ percent, respectively, from the fourth quarter of
last year through June. M2 growth increased as policy
actions reduced short-term market interest rates rela-
tive to returns that could be earned on assets in this
aggregate (a decline in the "opportunity cost" of hold-
ing M2). As a consequence, expansion of M2 exceeded
the growth of nominal GNP. However, the growth in
M2 (and decline in its velocity) was smaller than would

ncy in 1990.

The tepid response of M2 to declines in interest rates
may partly reflect reduced funding needs at deposito-
ries associated with weak credit growth. As discussed
below, commercial bank credit expanded sluggishly
over the first half, and thrift institution balance sheets
continued to contract. In these circumstances, deposi-
tories may well have been less aggressive in supplying
retail deposits; although rates on these deposits do not

L L

3600
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1990 1991

appear on the surface to have fallen unusually rapidly,
institutions may have acted in other ways to reduce the
costof landi. including adjustments in advertising and
marketing strategies. On the demand side, growth in
M2 appears to have been held down early in the year by
the public's concerns about depository institutions;
purchases of Treasury securities through noncompeti-
tivc tenders were especially heavy in January. As the
turnaround in the economy seemed in prospect, bank
accc.ss to both deposit and capital markets improved
greatly. Later, in the second quarter, a slowdown in M2
growth appeared to be partly related to the developing
configuration of returns on assets. Maturing small time
deposits could be rolled over only at much lower rates
at the same time that the steep upward slope of the yield
curve seemed to offer an opportunity to preserve high
yields by moving into capital market instruments. For
example, expansion of stock and bond mutual funds
was quite strong over the second quarter. In addition,
with returns on M2 assets falling steeply relative to
rates charged on loans, households had a greater
incentive to finance spending by holding down the
accumulation of M2 assets rather than by taking on new
debt.

The decline in market interest rates also promoted a
marked shift in the composition of M2 towards its
liquid household deposit components - other check-
able deposits, money market deposit accounts, and
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Three-month Treasury Bill Rate
and M2 Own Rate *

Percent

1985 1987 1939 1991

Spread of Three-month Treasury Bill
and M2 Own Rate '

Percentage points

savings deposits. As is typically the case, offering rates
on these deposits adjusted very slowly to the drop in
market rates. As their opportunity costs declined, these
deposits accelerated, expanding at double-digit rates
over the first half. Small time deposits, by contrast,
contracted over the period as some or the proceeds of
maturing instruments evidently were shitted into liquid
components of M2 and depositors hesitated to commit
currently generated savings at available time deposit
rates. The strength in other checkable deposits contrib-
uted to a strong first-half advance in Ml. In the first
quarter, this aggregate also was boosted by a surge in
currency stemming from rising demand abroad, partic-
ularly the Middle East, Reflecting the strength in
currency and in other checkable deposits, ihe monetary
base expanded over the first half at an 81/; percent
annual rate, more than twice the pace of M2.

Growth of M3 over the first half was concentrated in
the early months of the year, when it received a
considerable boost from heavy issuance of large time
deposits by U.S. branches and agencies of foreign
banks. The issuance of these "Yankee CDs" resulted
from the reduction in December of the reserve require-
ment on nonpetsonal time deposits and net Eurocur-
rency deposits from 3 percent to zero. Previously,
branches and agencies had been able to borrow a
limited volume of funds from their head offices without
incurring reserve requirements. With Yankee CD issu-
ance apparently an inherently cheaper source of funds.

M3: Target Range and Actual Growth
Billions of dollars

Annual rates of growth

1990:04 to 1991 :Q2
2.9 percent

1990:Q4to June
2.3 percent
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Velocity of Money and Debt
(Quarterly)

1960 1980

M2

Debi

Ratio Scale
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Note Velocities lor 1991 O2 are based on p<0|ecled GNP

Debt tor 1991 O2 is partially estimated
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those institutions that had been able to fund addilional
asset expansion through reserve-free borrowing from
their head offices began to pay down these advances
with funds raised in the CD market. Some foreign
banks also tapped the CD market to advance funds to
affiliates abroad and to pay down other nondeposit
liabilities. Domestic banks and thrifts, by contrast, ran
off large lime deposits in the firs! quarter as core
deposii inflows were more than adequate to fund asset
growth. The strength of M3 in the first quarter also
reflected strong growth of money market mutual funds.
The relative attractiveness of these funds tends to rise
when market rates are falling, as fund owners receive
returns based on average portfolio yields, which de-
cline only as fund holdings mature and must be re-
placed with lower-yielding instruments.

M3 was about flat between March and June. Shifts of
foreign bank liabilities toward large time deposits
slowed, large time deposits at domestic depositories
ran off more rapidly with a contraction of their credit,
and money funds decelerated as their yields came into
line with market rates.

Bank credit expanded very slowly in the first half of
1991, and was concentrated in acquisitions of securi-
ties, particularly those of the Treasury and agencies.
As in 1990, the recent strength in acquisitions of these
securities owes in part to their favorable treatment
under risk-based capital requirements. Mainly, how-
ever, it reflects the impact on loan growth of weaker
spending by potential borrowers and continued lending
restraint hy banks. A substantial proportion of bank
lending officers, citing heightened uncertainties about
the economy and, in many eases, weak capital posi-
tions, reported implementing still more restrictive
lending policies in a Federal Reserve survey conducted
early in 1991. Evidence of tightening continued into
May, although the percentage of surveyed banks report-
ing added tightening declined, perhaps owing in part to
the more favorable market environment that had devel-
oped from earlier in the year and that had allowed
banks to issue large volumes of debt and equity.

The asset quality problems that dogged banks in
1990 continued to crop up m the first half of 1991.
Available data on delinquency rates show them climb-
ing further in the first quarter, both for commercial real
estate and other business credits and also for consumer
loans. At midyear, when a number of large banks
announced surprisingly large loan losses and de-
pressed profits, some of the gains that banks had made
in debt and equity markets were reversed.

The contraction in depository credit was not fully
reflected in the growth of total debt of nonfinancial

Debt: Monitoring Range and Actual Growth
Billions of dollars

Annual rates ot growth

1990:Q4 to 1991 :Q2
4.5 percent

1990:Q4to June

4.8 percent
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sectors. As occurred last year, credit advanced through
securities markets and by other intermediaries met an
unusually high proportion of credit needs. Banks them-
selves continued to sell consumer loans and mortgages
into securities markets to hold down asset growth and
lo bolster capital ratios; through these .sales, the cost
and availability of funds to households has been largely
insulated from the possible effects of bank restraint on
credit. In addition, businesses turned to long-term
securities markets to meet credit needs and restructure
balance sheets, reducing their reliance on banks as
well.

Overall, the debt of domestic nonfinancial sectors
increased at about a 4'A annual percent rate over the
first half. This was likely a bit above the rate of
expansion, of nominal GNP, thougU by considerably
less than on average over the previous decade, as both
borrowers and lenders apparently have been adopting
more cautious attitudes toward additional debt. Busi-
nesses, for example, stepped up new equity issuance
and greatly reduced the retirement of existing equity in
corporate reslructurings. These activities, together
with the decline in financing needs associated with
falling inventories and fixed investment, held down
growth of business sector debt to a 2 percent annual
rate in the first half. With some consumers also attempt-
ing to reduce high debt loads, growth of consumer
credit was weak as well. Lower mortgage rates and
stronger home sales helped maintain growth of residen-
tial mortgages. States and municipaJities, facing con-
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tinuing downgrades and the need to cut back expendi-
tures, put fairly limited net demands on the credit
markets in the first half of this year. Federal govern-
ment debt growth in the first quarter was held down by

the slow pace of RTC activity and the receipt of
contributions from foreign governments of payments
related to the Gulf war; government debt issuance
picked up sharply in the second quarter, however.

Growth of Domestic Noniinancial Sector Debt and Depository Credit'

Quarterly

Percent

1961 1966

' Four quarter moving average
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Growth of Money and Debt (Percentage change)

Annually,
fourth quarter (o fourth quarter

1980

1981

1982

1983

1984

1985

1986

1987

1988

1989

1990

Quarterly
(annual rate)

1991 Q1

02

Semiannuslly,
fourth quarter to second quarter
(annual rate)

1991 H1

M1

7.4

5.4(2.5)*

8.8

10.4

5.4

12.0

15.5

6.3

4.2

0.6

4.2

5.9

7.4

6.7

M2

8.9

9.3

9.1

12.2

8.0

8.7

9.2

4.3

5.2

4.7

3.8

3.4

4.6

4.0

M3

9.5

12.3

9.9

9.8

10.7

7.6

9.0

5.8

6.3

3.6

1.7

4.0

1.8

2.9

Debt of
domestic
nonfinancial
sectors

9.4

10.1

9.1

11.1

14.2

13.1

13.2

9.7

9.2

7.7

6.7

4.8

4.2

4.5

"Figure in parentheses is adjusted to'shifts to NOW accounts in 1981

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



82

B O A R D OF G O V E R N O R S
OF IHE

FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM
WASHINGTON. D L. 2Q5S I

September 23, 1991

The Honorable Stephen L. Neal
Chairman
Subcommittee on Domestic Monetary Policy
Committee on Banking, Finance and

Urban Affairs
House of Representatives
Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

At the Humphrey-Hawkins testimony, you requested a
fuller statement of the rationale for delayed disclosure of
certain monetary policy decisions. This letter responds in some
depth to that request.

In general, monetary policy decisions are made public
immediately, expect when doing so could undercut the efficacy of
policy or compromise the integrity of policymaking. For example,
when we change the discount rate or reserve requirements, those
decisions are announced at once. When we establish new ranges
for money and credit growth, those ranges are set forth promptly
in our reports to Congress. And when Congress requests our
views, we testify. Moreover, we publish our balance sheet every
week with a 1-day lag. What we do not disclose immediately are
the implementing decisions with respect to our open market
operations. However, even these are conveyed rather clearly to
the markets and to the public at large through the operations
themselves. In practice, there is little lag between a change in
operating policy and the wide recognition of that change, despite
the absence of a formal announcement. Guidance for those
operations is given to the account manager at the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York as a Directive, which is made public shortly
after the next FOMC meeting, 6 to 7 weeks later. At the same
time, we publish a lengthy record of the policy deliberations
underlying the Committee's decisions. In all these respects, the
Federal Reserve compares very favorably with the central banks of
other major industrial nations.
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As you noted, however, suggestions have been made
that we announce publicly any change in our operating objectives
as it occurs and release the Directive immediately after an
FQMC meeting. These suggestions have appeal: . surely more infor-
mation is better than less in promoting efficient financial mar-
kets; and the need to infer the Federal Reserve's policy stance
from its actions can give rise to mistakes and unnecessary market
volatility.

Yet the amount of genuine new information that would
be released is small; it is subject to misinterpretations; and
its premature announcement could adversely affect the policy
process.

Wide movements in bond and stock prices occur when
investors receive new information that significantly alters
their expectations over a relatively long-term horizon.
Normally, changing perceptions about the unannounced current
operating stance of monetary policy play only a minor role in
episodes of financial variability. For example, in the first
half of 1990, there was no change in the operating stance of
monetary policy and no market uncertainty about that current
stance, but U.S. bond and stock prices experienced fairly wide
swings. To the extent that any of these market movements
reflected policy, they must have been related to changes in
market expectations about our prospective policy stance. But
announcements of future changes in operating policy are not
possible, since they are contingent upon future economic
developments.

Changes in our current operating stance, of course,
have the potential to alter anticipations of future conditions,
including future policy. At times, monetary policymakers wish
to strengthen the market's sense of a more basic change in the
thrust of policy through an announcement effect, as well as
through a change in the instrument itself. Changes in the
discount rate provide good examples.

More often, however, the Federal Reserve judges that
policy implementation is better served through small, incremen-
tal operating moves that do not connote a significant alteration
in policy intent and do not have major implications for finan-
cial conditions in the more distant future. Signalling such
policy moves through open market operations as opposed to formal
announcements usually avoids major and potentially destabilizing
movements in bond and stock prices.
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This way of distinguishing the nature of policy intent
may well convey information to the financial markets about the
future direction of policy better than would a formal, immediate
announcement of every policy change.

The immediate disclosure of all changes in our
operating targets would take a valuable policy instrument
away from us by reducing our flexibility to implement decisions
quietly at times to achieve a desired effect while minimizing
possible financial market disruptions. With an obligation to
announce all changes as they occurred, the distinction between
making changes either quite publicly or more subtly, as condi-
tions warrant, would evaporate; all moves would be accompanied
by announcement effects. If markets always accurately assessed
the implications of such announcements, incorporating them into
the structure of prices, then market efficiency might be enhanced
by making our open market objectives public immediately. How-
ever, prices can, and do, overreact to particular announcements.
The loss of flexibility implied by the announcement requirement
would be regrettable, especially in view of the inevitable
uncertainties surrounding the outlook for financial markets and
the economy.

The need for flexibility is especially pressing in
times of acute financial unrest. At those times, it is
imperative that the Federal Reserve remain able to respond
promptly and in whatever manner is most appropriate to the
moment. The fluidity of financial crises requires the same kind
of fluidity in our response. Some types of announcement could
well be helpful in such circumstances—as, for example, the very
general statement made at the time of the October 1987 stock
market crash appeared to be. However, it would be ill-advised
and perhaps virtually impossible to announce short-run targets
for reserves or interest rates when markets were in flux. Our
open market operations might depend on market conditions at the
moment and might not be accurately represented by an announcement
of a particular goal for reserves or interest rates. Moreover,
the specific instrument settings might themselves be changing as
developments unfolded. Markets are often prone to overreact at
times when the financial system appears fragile, and under these
conditions, the requirement to publicize each change could risk
further unsettling markets.
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In the normal course of events, a public-announcement
requirement also could impede timely and appropriate adjustments
to policy. In recent years, the Federal Reserve has been most
successful when it has anticipated pressures on the economy and
has moved promptly to counter them. The immediate announcement
of changes to our instrument settings could adversely affect the
policymaking process that has made this possible and could impart
a degree of sluggishness to policy responses. The Federal
Reserve might be forced to focus more on the announcement effect
associated with its action, than on the ultimate economic impact.

The immediate release of the Directive also would
be ill-advised. The Directive itself cannot capture all the
considerations that guide Committee policy for the intermeet-
ing period. It needs to be accompanied by the record of the
Committee's deliberations, which takes several weeks to prepare
properly. Moreover, early release could provoke overreactions
in financial markets to contingencies or reserve pressure alter-
natives mentioned in a Directive that may not occur, or that may
be superseded by intermeeting developments and adjustments. To
the extent that market participants anticipate contingencies in
the Directive that never materialize, the markets would be
subjected to unnecessary volatility.

Earlier release of the Directive would, in addition,
force the Committee itself to focus on the market impact of
the announcement as well as on the ultimate economic impact of
its actions. To avoid premature market reaction to mere contin-
gencies, FOMC decisions could well lose their conditional charac-
ter. Given the uncertainties in economic forecasts and in the
links between monetary policy actions and economic outcomes, such
an impairment of flexibility in the evolution of policy would be
undesirable.

Currently, the basic policy stance of the Federal
Reserve is reviewed by Congress and the nation when we present
our semiannual report on monetary policy. The longer-run ranges
for money and credit, along with other considerations set forth
in those reports, constitute the framework within which shorter-
run, implementing actions are taken. Should the basic policy
objectives change, that would be announced promptly. The current
issue concerns only the immediate disclosure of operational
decisions connected with carrying out those basic objectives.
Our conclusion is that mandating such announcements would yield
only marginal rewards, but could significantly reduce the
effectiveness of policy.

Clearly, this line of reasoning is undermined by the
selective, unauthorized, and premature release of FOMC decisions
to the press. As I indicated in response to your question at the
Humphrey-Hawkins hearings, I have found these instances extremely
distressing. I believe that the appropriate response to this
problem is not the abandonment of procedures designed to enhance
the effectiveness of policy implementation, but rather the better
enforcement of the Committee's rules regarding confidentiality-
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RECENT MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS

1. While real GNP grew 1 percent during 1990, it contracted at an annual rate
of 1.6 percent during the fourth quarter of the year. The rate of contraction
accelerated to an annual rate of 2.8 percent during the first quarter of 1991.
Final sales, which is GNP less changes in inventories, grew 1.6 percent during
1990. Unlike GNP, final sales growth was positive during the fourth quarter
of that year. During the first quarter of 1991, final sales fell at an annual
rate of 2.9 percent.

Percent

1987

FIGURE 1. GNP vs. Final Sales

1988 1989 1990 1991'

• GNP M Final Sales

* Annualized first quarter rate of change.

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce.
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2. For much of 1988 and 1989, the unemployment rate was virtually unchanged,
at about 5.3 percent. The magnitude of the slowdown in GNP growth that
began early in 1989 and, ultimately, the contraction of GNP, caused
unemployment to rise. The rate for June 1991, 7.0 percent, is a high for
the current recession. Rates this high were last seen in 1986. While those
unemployed for short periods of time (14 weeks or less) continue to dominate
unemployment, longer term unemployment (15 weeks and over) has been rising.

FIGURE 2, Civilian Unemployment Rate

Percent

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9ini12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 91t1112 1 2 3 4 5 6
1989 199t 1991

Source: U.S. Department »f Labor.
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3. The inflation rate, measured by the CPI, rose at an annual rate of 3.3 percent
during the first five months of 1991. This compares with 5.4 percent, 4.8
percent, 4.1 percent, and 3.6 percent during 1990, 1989, 1988, and 1987,
respectively. Undoubtedly, some of the deceleration in inflation was affected
by the fall in energy prices following the successful war against Iraq. The
non-energy portion of the CPI rose at an annual rate of 4.8 percent during
the first five months of 1991 compared to 5.2 percent during 1990.

The inflation rate measured by the two GNP deflators accelerated during
the first quarter of 1991 with both rising at an annualized rate of 5.2 percent.
The implicit price deflator for GNP rose 4.1 percent during 1990 compared
with 4.1 percent, 3.3 percent, and 3.2 percent, respectively, during 1989,1988,
and 1987. The fixed weight deflator rose 4.5 percent during 1990 compared
with 4.5 percent, 4.2 percent, and 35 percent, respectively, for 1989,1988,
and 1987.

Labor costs during the first quarter of 1991 moved at rates similar to those
in 1990. Unit labor costs rose at an annual rate of 3.7 percent versus 4.4
percent for 1990. The rise in the Employment Cost Index was identical to
its rise during 1990 (4.6 percent) which is similar to its rate of increase during
1988 and 1989.

FIGURE 3A. Consumer Price Index

Percent

1987 1988 1989 1990

* Annualized rate based on first five months of 1991.

Source: U.S. Department of Labor.

1991
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FIGURE 3B. GNP Deflator
Percent

1987 1988 1989 1990 1991

^H Implicit ^a Fixed

* Annualized rate based on first quarter data.

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce

FIGURE 3C. Labor Costs

1988 1989 1990 1991'

Unit Labor Cost Labor Cost Index

* Annualized rate based on first quarter data.

Source: U.S. Department of Labor
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4. Monetary policy has eased considerably over the past year. Aggregate
reserve growth, the basis for future growth in the monetary aggregates,
accelerated noticeably. Only over the past quarter has it been slowed. In
response, the growth rates of the monetary aggregates have also
accelerated.

TABLE 1. Monetary Aggregates

Period

04/87-04/88
04/88-04/89
04/89-04/90
02/90-02/91
03/90-02/91
04/90-02/91
01/90-02/91

Aggregate
Reserves

3.1%
-0.5
1.0
5.3
6.9
8.7
5.3

Monetary
Base

6.7%
3.4
8.4
9.4
9.6
9.6
4.2

Ml

4.3%
0.6
4.2
5.2
5.7
6.8
7.6

M2

5.2%
4.7
3.9
3.3
3.4
4.1
4.7

M3

6.3%
3.5
1.8
2.1
1.9
2.9
1.8

Source: Board of Governors and the St. Louis Federal Reserve Bank.

TABLE 1A. Growth in the Major Components of the Monetary Aggregates
(in percentages)

04/87-04/88
04/88-04/89
04/89-04/90
04/90-02/91

Currency

8.1
4.8

10.9
* 9.7

Demand
Deposits

-1.3
-3.0
-0.6
0.1

Other
Checkable
Deposits

7.6
0.9
3.5
8.6

Money
Market
Deposit
Accts

7.7
30.0
11.4
10.1

Money
Market
Mutual
Funds

-4.6
-4.5
5.1
6.3

Small
Saving Time

Deposits Deposits

2.9
-5.9
2.0
9.5

13.1
11.8
1.8

-2.9

Large
Time

Deposits
11.6
5.0

-9.5
-2.7

'Through May 1991.

Source: Federal Reserve System.
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FIGURE 4. M2

4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4
2.9

1987

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve.

FIGURES. M3

4.4

4.3

Trillions of $

1987

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
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FIGURE 6. M2 Growth Rates

Percent

1 3 5 7 9 1 1 1 3 5 7 9 1 1 1 3 5 7 9 1 1 1 3 5
I 1988 ! 1989 I 1990 I 1991

"-- M/12M -*- AQRG

Source; Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

FIGURE 7. M3 Growth Rates
Percent

,.-»"*• \ '*...

V

1 3 5 7 9 1 1 1 3 5 7 9 1 1 1 3 5 7 9 1 1 1 3 5
I 1988 I 19B9 I 1990 I 1991

-=•=•- M/12M "*-- AQRG

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
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FIGURE 8. Reserve Growth

80

60

Billions of $
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I I
1987
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1988 ' 1989 ' 1990 ' 1991 '
~-*-~ Board of Governors ~^~ St. Louis Fed

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

FIGURE 9. Currencj/M2 Ratio

Percent

1 3 5 7 9 1 1 1 3 5 7 9 1 1 1 3 5 7 9 11 1 3 5
6.5

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
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FIGURE 10. Reserve/M2 Ratio

Percent

1.55 -
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1.45

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
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FIGURE 11. Yield on Selected Treasury Securities

Percent
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1 Year Fed Funds Long Term

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
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FIGURE 12. Dollar Exchange Rate
1973-1OO

1O5

100

95 -

90

85

80
1 3 5 7 9 11 1 3 5 7 9 11 1 3 5 7 9 11 1 3 5 7 9 11 135
i 1987 I 1988 I 1989 I 199» I 19911

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

5. The foreign exchange value of the dollar has risen steadily since late 1990.
It now stands at a level last seen late in 1989. Despite this, the overall
downward trend since mid-1989 has contributed to a continued decline in
the trade deficit. During the first quarter of 1990, the United States
actually ran a trade surplus of $7.1 billion 1982 dollars.

14O

FIGURE 13. U.S. Foreign Trade Deficit

Billi*ns *f 1982 $

1986 1987 1988 1989

* Based on first quarter data.

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce.

199» 1991'
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FIGURE 14. Sources of GNP Growth

1986 1987 1988

HH Consumption 1

H Government Iff

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce.

1989 1990

Investment

Net Exports
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TABLE 2. Economic Forecasts, 1991-1992

1991

Nominal GNP'
OMB
CBO
DRI
WEFA
BC

Real GNP"
OMB
CBO
DRI
WEFA
BC

Unemployment1*
OMB
CBO
DRI
WEFA
BC

GNP Deflator'
OMB
CBO
DRI
WEFA
BC

CPI-U"
OMB
CBO
DRI
WEFA
BC

T-Bill Rate"
OMB
CBO
DRI
WEFA
BC

10-Year Rateb

OMB
CBO
DRI
WEFA
BC

1

2.2
2.2
2.2
2.2
2.2

-2.8
-2.8
-2.8
-2.8
-2.8

6.5
6.5
6.5
6.5
6.5

5.2
5.2
5.2
5.2
5.2

3.5
3.5
3.5
3.5
3.5

6.0
6.0
6.0
6.0
6.0

8.0
8.0
8.0
8.0
-

2

4.6
5.1
4.1
3.8
4.5

0.3
0.8
1.3
1.5
0.8

6.8*
6.8
6.8
6.8
6.8

4.3
4.3
2.7
2.2
3.7

4.2
3.8
2.1
2.1
2.7

5.6*
5.6
5.6
5.6
5.6

8.1*
8.1
8.1
8.1
-

3

6.3
6.2
6.6
4.7
6.4

2.0
2.3
3.8
2.8
2.7

6.8
6.9
6.9
7.0
6.8

4.2
3.8
2.7
1.8
3.4

4.1
3.2
2.6
3.4
3.7

6.4
6.5
5.7
5.7
5.6

7.5
7.7
8.4
8.3
-

4

7.0
7.6
6.2
5.9
6.5

2.8
3.9
3.3
3.5
2.9

6.7
6.8
6.7
6.8
6.8

4.1
3.6
2.8
2.3
3.5

4.0
3.6
3.5
3.6
3.9

6.3
6.8
6.2
5.8
5.7

7.4
7.7
8.7
8.4
-

1

7.7
8.1
6.1
7.5
6.7

3.7
4.0
2.6
3.9
2.9

6.7
6.6
6.6
6.6
6.7

3.9
3.9
3.3
3.5
3.7

4.0
3.5
3.9
4.4
4.0

6.2
6.9
6.6
6.0
5.9

7.3
7.7
8.8
8.6
-

1992

2

7.5
7.2
5.7
7.6
6.5

3.6
3.6
2.3
4.2
2.8

6.7
6.5
6.4
6.3
6.6

3.8
3.5
3.3
3.2
3.6

3.9
3.5
3.9
3.5
4.0

6.1
7.0
6.7
6.1
6.0

7.3
7.7
8.7
8.6
-

3

7.4
6.7
4.7
7.5
6.5

3.6
3.1
1.8
4.0
2.8

6.7
6.4
6.4
6.2
6.4

3.7
3.5
2.9
3.4
3.6

3.9
3.5
3.8
4.2
3.9

6.0
7.0
6.7
6.2
6.2

7.2
7.7
8.6
8.7
-

4

7.3
6.4
4.8
6.6
6.4

3.5
2.8
1.8
2.9
2.7

6.6
6.3
6.4
6.1
6.3

3.7
3.5
2.9
3.6
3.6

3.8
3.6
3.9
5.0
4.0

5.8
7.0
6.4
6.3
6.2

7.1
7.7
8.3
8.7
-

1990*

5.1
5.1
5.1
5.1
5.1

1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0

5.5
5.5
5.5
5.5
5.5

4.1
4.1
4.1
4.1
4.1

5.4
5.4
5.4
5.4
5.4

7.5
7.5
7.5
7.5
7.5

8.6
8.6
8.6
8.6
8.6

1991

4.1
4.3
3.7
3.4
3.8

-0.3
0.0
0.1
0.0

-0.1

6.8
6.8
6.8
6.8
6.7

4.4
4.3
3.6
3.3
3.9

5.2
4.9
4.2
4.3
4.4

6.4
6.6
5.9
5.8
5.8

7.5
7.9
8.3
8.2
NA

1992

7.1
7.1
5.7
6.6
6.4

3.1
3.3
2.6
3.6
2.8

6.7
6.4
6.5
6.3
6.5

3.9
3.7
3-0
2.9
3.5

4.0
3.5
3.5
3.8
3-9

6-0
7.0
6.6
6.1
6.1

7.2
7.7
8.6
8-7
NA

* Actual data, subject to revisions.

'Annualized quarterly rates of change.
b Quarterly average. OMB assumes interest rates follow the course of inflation.

Sources: Data Resources, Inc., U.S. Forecast Summary, July 1991; Wharton
Econometric Forecasting Associates Group. U.S. Economic Outlook, July3,1991;
Blue Chip Economic Indicators, July 10,1991. Congressional Budget Office. Washington,
February 1991; and, the Office of Management and Budget. Feburary 1991. The
quarterly detail of the CBO and OMB forecasts are from unpublished data.
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